








8.10  JUROR NOTES

  (1) Remember that if you elected to take notes during the trial, your notes should be used only
as memory aids.  You should not give your notes greater weight than your independent
recollection of the evidence.  You should rely upon your own independent recollection of the
evidence or lack of evidence and you should not be unduly influenced by the notes of other
jurors.  Notes are not entitled to any more weight than the memory or impression of each juror.  

  (2) Whether you took notes or not, each of you must form and express your own opinion as to
the facts of the case.

Use Note

If note-taking is permitted, the court should also give a preliminary instruction on juror
note-taking.

Committee Commentary
(current through December 31, 2007)

This instruction is new.  

In United States v. Johnson, 584 F.2d 148 (6th Cir. 1978), the Sixth Circuit held that it
was within the sound discretion of the trial court to allow the jury to take notes during the course
of trial and use them in deliberations.  Id. at 157.  The Sixth Circuit particularly noted that
allowing the jury to take notes during the course of trial is appropriate where numerous
defendants are charged in a multi-count indictment.  Id. at 158.  The Committee recognizes the
common practice of allowing the jury to take notes, especially in complex cases.  This instruction
is designed to accommodate that practice.

The language of the first paragraph is based upon the last two paragraphs of Eleventh
Circuit Trial Instruction 2.1 (1997).  The language of the second paragraph is based upon
language in Fifth Circuit Pattern Instruction 1.02, Alternative B (2001).



Chapter 9.00

SUPPLEMENTAL INSTRUCTIONS
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9.01 SUPPLEMENTAL INSTRUCTIONS IN RESPONSE TO JUROR QUESTIONS

  (1) Members of the jury, I have received a note from you that says _______.

  (2) Let me respond by instructing you as follows: _______.

  (3) Keep in mind that you should consider what I have just said together with all the other
instructions that I gave you earlier.  All these instructions are important, and you should consider
them together as a whole.

  (4) I would ask that you now return to the jury room and resume your deliberations.

Use Note

This instruction should be used when the court gives supplemental instructions in
response to juror questions.

Committee Commentary 9.01
(current through December 31, 2007)

The Committee made no change in the instruction.

In United States v. Combs, 33 F.3d 667 (6th Cir. 1994), the Sixth Circuit held that the trial
court’s supplemental instructions were inadequate but did not rise to the level of plain error.  
The court identified two problems with the content of the supplemental instructions: they
answered jurors’ questions with a categorical yes or no, and they referred jurors to the previous
instructions without elaborating on them.  The Sixth Circuit stated that generally, standards
regarding supplemental instructions were “well-settled.”  The court explained,  “In United States
v. Giacalone, we made clear that a supplemental instruction is one that goes beyond reciting
what has previously been given; it is not merely repetitive.  Reiterating the rule ... that a trial
court has a duty ‘to clear up uncertainties which the jury brings to the court’s attention,’ we
stated that the propriety of a supplemental instruction must be measured ‘by whether it fairly
responds to the jury’s inquiry without creating ... prejudice.’”  Combs, 33 F.3d at 669-70
(citations omitted), quoting United States v. Giacalone, 588 F.2d 1158, 1166 (6th Cir. 1978) and
United States v. Nunez, 889 F.2d 1564, 1568 (6th Cir. 1989).

The Sixth Circuit also stated that ordinarily, a categorical yes or no in response to a jury
question does not discharge the court’s duty:   “Upon receipt of questions from a deliberating
jury, it is incumbent upon the district court to assume that at least some jurors are harboring
confusion, which the original instructions either created or failed to clarify.  Therefore, the trial
judge must be meticulous in preparing supplemental instructions, taking pains adequately to
explain the point that obviously is troubling the jury.  To be sure, the court must ensure that, in
responding, it does not stray beyond the purpose of jury instructions, but the jury’s questions
here did not seek collateral or inappropriate advice.”  Combs, 33 F.3d at 670.



Finally, the Combs court also explained the procedures to be used for supplemental
instructions:  “The district court is required to follow the same procedure in giving supplemental
instructions as in giving original instructions.  (Citation omitted.)  ‘[I]t [i]s error for the trial
judge to respond to the jury’s question other than in open court and in the presence of counsel for
both sides.’ (Citation omitted).”  Id.   See also Fed. R. Crim. P. 43(a), which provides that “The
defendant must be present at ... every stage of the trial including the impaneling of the jury and
the return of the verdict, and at the imposition of sentence, except as otherwise provided by this
rule.”  The exceptions are listed in Rule 43(b) and (c).

1991 Edition

This instruction is patterned after Devitt and Blackmar Instruction 18.13.  It is designed
to provide a standardized response to juror questions which includes a reminder that all the
instructions should be considered together as a whole.

For a summary of when supplemental instructions should be given, see United States v.
Nunez, 889 F.2d 1564, 1568 (6th Cir.1989).  See also United States v. Brown, 915 F.2d 219, 223
(6th Cir.1990).



9.02 REREADING OF TESTIMONY

  (1) Members of the jury, the court reporter will now read _______'s testimony.

  (2) Keep in mind that you should consider this testimony together with all the other evidence. 
Do not consider it by itself, out of context.  Consider all the evidence together as a whole.

Use Note

This instruction must be used when testimony is reread to the jury.

Committee Commentary 9.02
(current through December 31, 2007)

The Committee made no change in the text of the instruction. 

The Committee changed the Use Note from providing that this instruction “should” be
used to providing that this instruction “must” be used.  The change responds to United States v.
Rodgers, 109 F.3d 1138 (6th Cir. 1997), in which the Sixth Circuit stated, “[W]e hold that if a
district court chooses to give a deliberating jury transcribed testimony, or chooses to reread
testimony to a deliberating jury, the district court must give an instruction cautioning the jury on
the proper use of that testimony.”  Id. at 1145.  The court noted that although it had not explicitly
held a cautionary instruction was required in the past, in numerous cases where the court found
no abuse of discretion, it had relied on the affirmative steps the district courts took to avoid the
dangers of the situation.  The Sixth Circuit explained, “This holding makes explicit a rule we
have consistently applied in the past.”  Id.  Thus, if testimony is reread or a transcript provided to
the jury, a cautionary instruction is no longer within the trial court’s discretion but rather is
required.

As the Sixth Circuit stated, it had consistently relied on the giving of a cautionary
instruction like Pattern Instruction 9.02 in finding that rereading testimony was not error.  See,
e.g., United States v. Epley, 52 F.3d 571, 579 (6th Cir. 1995), where the court held that it was not
error for the trial court to reread one witness’s testimony upon request of jury, in part because the
trial court gave a cautionary instruction both before and after the reading to consider the
testimony as a whole and not to emphasize this piece of evidence over the others.  In addition,
the jury heard the entire testimony of the witness, so it was not taken out of context, and the
testimony turned out to be cumulative. 

On rereading testimony generally, the Sixth Circuit relies on guidelines established in
United States v. Padin, 787 F.2d 1071, 1076-77 (6th Cir. 1986).  See, e.g., United States v.
Rodgers, supra at 1142; United States v. Epley, supra at 579 (6th Cir. 1995).  In Padin, the Sixth
Circuit identified two inherent dangers in reading testimony to a jury during deliberations.  First,
undue emphasis may be accorded the testimony.  Second, the limited testimony that is reviewed
may be taken out of context.  These concerns escalate after a jury reports it is unable to reach a



verdict.  Padin, 787 F.2d at 1077, citing Henry v. United States, 204 F.2d 817 (6th Cir. 1953); see
also United States v. Rodgers, 109 F.3d 1138, 1143-44 (6th Cir. 1997); United States v. Epley, 52
F.3d 571, 579 (6th Cir. 1995) .

In United States v. Rodgers, supra, the Sixth Circuit stated that in addition to the inherent
dangers identified in Padin, more general concerns also exist in allowing a jury to read a
transcript of testimony.  These concerns are that “(1) any transcript provided to a jury should be
accurate; (2) transcription of side bar conferences, and any other matters not meant for jury
consumption, must be redacted; and (3) as a purely practical matter, a district court should take
into consideration the reasonableness of the jury’s request and the difficulty of complying
therewith.”  Rodgers, 109 F.3d at 1143 (internal quotations omitted).

1991 Edition

The purpose of this instruction is to caution the jury not to give undue emphasis to
selected testimony.  See generally United States v. Osterbrock, 891 F.2d 1216, 1219 (6th
Cir.1989) (affirming defendant's conviction in part on the ground that a similar cautionary
instruction was given).  See also Instruction 9.01, which cautions the jury not to give undue
emphasis to selected instructions.

The decision whether selected testimony should be reread to the jury at all is left to the
trial court's sound discretion.  E.g., United States v. Thomas, 875 F.2d 559, 562 (6th Cir.), cert.
denied, ___ U.S. ___, 110 S.Ct. 189, 107 L.Ed.2d 144 (1989).



9.03 PARTIAL VERDICTS

  (1) Members of the jury, you do not have to reach unanimous agreement on all the charges
before returning a verdict on some of them.  If you have reached unanimous agreement on some
of the charges, you may return a verdict on those charges, and then continue deliberating on the
others.  You do not have to do this, but you can if you wish.

  (2) If you do choose to return a verdict on some of the charges now, that verdict will be final. 
You will not be able to change your minds about it later on.

  (3) Your other option is to wait until the end of your deliberations, and return all your verdicts
then.  The choice is yours.

  (4) I would ask that you now return to the jury room and resume your deliberation.

Use Note

This instruction should be used if the jurors ask about, attempt to return or otherwise
indicate that they may have reached a partial verdict.  It may also be appropriate if the jury has
deliberated for an extensive period of time.

Committee Commentary 9.03
(current through December 31, 2007

The Committee made no change in the instruction.

The Sixth Circuit held it was not an abuse of discretion to refuse a supplemental
instruction on partial verdicts under the circumstances in United States v. Ford, 987 F.2d 334 (6th

Cir. 1992).  The trial court had given a partial verdict instruction in its initial instructions, and
the verdict forms examined by the district judge during deliberations at the request of all the
defendants showed that the jury had not reached unanimous verdicts on any defendants or any
charges.  The court stated, “Before declaring a mistrial and dismissing a hung jury, a trial judge
may inquire whether the jury has reached a partial verdict with respect to any of the defendants
or any of the charges, but such an inquiry is not required where the trial judge has already given
clear instructions on the point.”  Ford, 987 F.2d at 340, citing United States v. MacQueen, 596
F.2d 76, 82 (2d Cir. 1979).

1991 Edition

Fed.R.Crim.P. 31(b) states that at any time during the deliberations in a multi-defendant
case, the jury "may return a verdict or verdicts with respect to a defendant or defendants as to
whom it has agreed."  In a series of cases, other circuits have recognized that partial verdicts may
be accepted not only as to less than all defendants, but also as to less than all counts.  E.g.,
United States v. Levasseur, 816 F.2d 37, 45 (2d Cir.1987); United States v. Ross, 626 F.2d 77,



81 (9th Cir.1980).

In United States v. DiLapi, 651 F.2d 140, 147 (2d Cir.1981), cert. denied, 455 U.S. 938,
102 S.Ct. 1427, 71 L.Ed.2d 648 (1982), and United States v. Burke, 700 F.2d 70, 78-80 (2d Cir.),
cert. denied, 464 U.S. 816, 104 S.Ct. 72, 78 L.Ed.2d 85 (1983), the Second Circuit indicated that
when the jury asks about or attempts to return a partial verdict, the district court should neutrally
explain the jury's options of either returning the verdicts reached, or deferring any verdicts until
the deliberations are concluded.  Such an instruction should not encourage or discourage a partial
verdict, and should advise the jury that any verdict it does return is not subject to later revision. 
See United States v. Hockridge, 573 F.2d 752, 756-760 (2d Cir.) (once a partial verdict is
returned, it may not later be impeached), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 821, 99 S.Ct. 85, 58 L.Ed.2d 112
(1978).

If a partial verdict is returned, the district court may require the jury to continue its
deliberations on the remaining counts.  United States v. Delaughter, 453 F.2d 908, 910 (5th Cir.),
cert. denied, 406 U.S. 932, 92 S.Ct. 1769, 32 L.Ed.2d 135 (1972); United States v. Barash, 412
F.2d 26, 32 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 396 U.S. 832, 90 S.Ct. 86, 24 L.Ed.2d 82 (1969).

None of the circuits that have drafted pattern instructions include an instruction on partial
verdicts.  But all five of the other sources surveyed do in one form or another.  See Federal
Judicial Center Instruction 58, D.C. Bar Instruction 2.92, Devitt and Blackmar Instructions 18.08
and 18.16, Saltzburg and Perlman Instruction 3.68 and Sand and Siffert Instruction 9-8.

Two of these five (Federal Judicial Center Instruction 58 and Saltzburg and Perlman
Instruction 3.68) include this subject in their general instruction on verdict forms which is given
before the jury retires to deliberate.  The other three include it in a special instruction to be given
only after the jury has indicated that it wants to return a partial verdict, or after the jury has
deliberated for an extensive period of time.

The Committee believes that the latter approach is preferable.  Initially, at least, the jury
should be encouraged to try and reach unanimous agreement on all counts.

Even if the jury has not specifically asked about or attempted to return a partial verdict,
an instruction like this may be appropriate if the jury has deliberated for an extensive period of
time.  What constitutes an extensive period of time will depend on the nature and complexity of
the particular case.



9.04 DEADLOCKED JURY

  (1) Members of the jury, I am going to ask that you return to the jury room and deliberate
further.  I realize that you are having some difficulty reaching unanimous agreement, but that is
not unusual.  And sometimes after further discussion, jurors are able to work out their
differences and agree.

  (2) Please keep in mind how very important it is for you to reach unanimous agreement.  If you
cannot agree, and if this case is tried again, there is no reason to believe that any new evidence
will be presented, or that the next twelve jurors will be any more conscientious and impartial
than you are.

  (3) Let me remind you that it is your duty as jurors to talk with each other about the case; to
listen carefully and respectfully to each other's views; and to keep an open mind as you listen to
what your fellow jurors have to say.  And let me remind you that it is your duty to make every
reasonable effort you can to reach unanimous agreement.  Each of you, whether you are in the
majority or the minority, ought to seriously reconsider your position in light of the fact that other
jurors, who are just as conscientious and impartial as you are, have come to a different
conclusion.

  (4) Those of you who believe that the government has proved the defendant guilty beyond a
reasonable doubt should stop and ask yourselves if the evidence is really convincing enough,
given that other members of the jury are not convinced.  And those of you who believe that the
government has not proved the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt should stop and ask
yourselves if the doubt you have is a reasonable one, given that other members of the jury do not
share your doubt.  None of you should hesitate to change your mind if, after reconsidering
things, you are convinced that other jurors are right and that your original position was wrong.

  (5) But remember this.  Do not ever change your mind just because other jurors see things
differently, or just to get the case over with.  As I told you before, in the end, your vote must be
exactly that--your own vote.  As important as it is for you to reach unanimous agreement, it is
just as important that you do so honestly and in good conscience.

  (6) What I have just said is not meant to rush or pressure you into agreeing on a verdict.  Take
as much time as you need to discuss things.  There is no hurry.

  (7) I would ask that you now return to the jury room and resume your deliberations.

Use Note

This instruction is designed for use when the court concludes that the jury has reached an
impasse and that an Allen charge is appropriate.

A stronger, more explicit reminder regarding the government's burden of proof than the
implicit one contained in paragraph (4) may be appropriate in unusual cases.



Committee Commentary 9.04
(current through December 31, 2007)

The Committee made no change in the instruction.

The Sixth Circuit has endorsed the wording of this instruction in United States v. Clinton,
338 F.3d 483, 487-88 (6th Cir. 2003), quoting the instruction in full and stating:

In this circuit, while we have generally approved use of the Sixth Circuit Pattern
Instruction, we have never explicitly mandated the use of that or any instruction to the
exclusion of others.  We decline to do so now, although we take the occasion to express a
strong preference for the pattern instruction and to point out that its use will, in most
instances, insulate a resulting verdict from the type of appellate challenge that we now
face in this case.

See also United States v. Reed, 167 F.3d 984, 991 (6th Cir. 1999); United States v. Frost, 125
F.3d 346, 374-75 (6th Cir. 1997); United States v. Tines, 70 F.3d 891, 896-97 (6th Cir. 1995).

A related issue is whether giving this instruction is error even when the content is correct
because it is coercive under the circumstances of the case.  Although the Sixth Circuit has stated
that it is possible that giving Instruction 9.04 can be error as coercive even though the content is
correct, the Sixth Circuit has never reached that conclusion in the cases decided since the
promulgation of Instruction 9.04.  Rather, it has concluded that giving Instruction 9.04 was not
coercive and was not error.   See United States v. Reed, supra (instruction given on twelfth day
of deliberations); United States v. Frost, supra; United States v. Tines, supra.  As the Sixth
Circuit explained, “Although circumstances alone can render an Allen charge coercive, we
traditionally have found an Allen charge coercive when the instructions themselves contained
errors or omissions, not when a defendant alleges that the circumstances surrounding an
otherwise correct charge created coercion.”  Frost, 125 F.3d at 375.    

1991 Edition

As its name implies, this instruction is designed for use when the court concludes that the
jury has reached an impasse and that an Allen charge is appropriate.  When such an instruction
should be given is left to the trial court's sound discretion.  E.g., United States v. Sawyers, 902
F.2d 1217, 1220 (6th Cir.1990).

Instruction 9.04 is a modified version of the instruction approved by the United States
Supreme Court in Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492, 501-502, 17 S.Ct. 154, 157, 41 L.Ed.
528 (1896).  The Allen decision and its progeny are thoroughly analyzed in the Committee
Commentary to Instruction 8.04.

Paragraph (1) is patterned after parts of the first paragraph of Fifth Circuit Instruction
1.41, Eleventh Circuit Trial Instruction 6 and the third paragraph of Sand and Siffert Instruction



9-11.  It is an introductory, transitional paragraph designed to advise the jurors in a non-
threatening way that further deliberations will be required.

Paragraph (2) is a plain English restatement of certain concepts found in Fifth Circuit
Instruction 1.41, Eleventh Circuit Trial Instruction 6, D.C. Bar Instruction 2.91 (Alternative B)
and Devitt and Blackmar Instruction 18.14.  It emphasizes the importance of trying to reach
unanimous agreement, and explains that no subsequent jury is likely to be in any better position
to decide the case.  It does not explicitly include any admonition about the burden and expense
of trial.  Although such language does not necessarily constitute reversible error in the Sixth
Circuit, see United States v. Giacalone, 588 F.2d 1158, 1167 (6th Cir.1978) (not reversible error,
at least in the absence of any specific objection), cert. denied, 441 U.S. 944, 99 S.Ct. 2162, 60
L.Ed.2d 1045 (1979), it has been criticized as a "questionable extension" of Allen.  See United
States v. Harris, 391 F.2d 348, 354 (6th Cir.), cert. denied, 393 U.S. 874, 89 S.Ct. 169, 21
L.Ed.2d 145 (1968).

Paragraph (3) reminds the jurors of their duty to consult with each other, using the same
language used in Instruction 8.04.

Paragraph (4) admonishes all the jurors, whether they are in the majority or the minority,
to reconsider their position in light of the contrary position taken by other jurors, and concludes
by telling the jurors that they should not hesitate to change their minds if they decide that their
original position should be abandoned.

Admonishing the majority to reconsider their position represents a significant departure
from the instructions approved by the Supreme Court in Allen.  The instructions in Allen focused
exclusively on the jurors who were in the minority, and directed them to reconsider their position
in light of the fact that the majority had come to a different conclusion.  Although the Supreme
Court recently reaffirmed the continuing validity of Allen in Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231,
108 S.Ct. 546, 98 L.Ed.2d 568 (1988), the Court noted that there is even less doubt about the
validity of Allen charges that omit the language focusing exclusively on minority jurors.  Id. at
238, 108 S.Ct. at 551.

Focusing exclusively on the minority jurors has been criticized by the American Bar
Association Standards for Criminal Justice, Trial by Jury Standard 15-4.4, Commentary at page
15-140, as unduly coercive of minority jurors.  See also Williams v. Parke, 741 F.2d 847, 850
(6th Cir.1984) ("A major criticism of the Allen charge focuses on 'its potentially coercive effect
on minority jurors'."), cert. denied, 470 U.S. 1029, 105 S.Ct. 1399, 84 L.Ed.2d 787 (1985).  Such
language has been omitted entirely from the pattern instructions promulgated by the Seventh and
Ninth Circuits and the Federal Judicial Center. The Fifth and Eleventh Circuits retain this
language, although in slightly modified form.  See Fifth Circuit Instruction 1.41 and Eleventh
Circuit Trial Instruction 6.

The language in paragraph (4) admonishing all the jurors to reconsider their position is a
plain English restatement of language found in D.C. Bar Instruction 2.91 (Alternative B). 
Although it does not go as far as Allen would allow, it still encourages jurors to reconsider their
positions in light of the fact that other jurors disagree, and does so in a more evenhanded way



that should be much less susceptible to successful appellate attack.  It is based on the philosophy
that the purpose of a supplemental charge should not be to coerce minority jurors into joining the
majority.  Instead, such a charge should be aimed at breaking down the barriers to
communication that have developed and rekindling reasoned discussion.

Paragraph (5) is a plain English restatement of the required admonition that jurors should
never surrender a conscientious belief merely for the purpose of reaching agreement.  See for
example United States v. Scott, 547 F.2d 334, 337 (6th Cir.1977) (referring to this admonition as
"one of the most important parts of the Allen charge").  The language used is patterned after the
language used in Instruction 8.04.

Some Allen charges include language telling the jurors that if, after further deliberation,
they cannot conscientiously agree, the court will discharge them.  See Hyde v. United States, 225
U.S. 347, 383, 32 S.Ct. 793, 808, 56 L.Ed. 1114 (1912), and United States v. Barnhill, 305 F.2d
164, 165 (6th Cir.), cert. denied, 371 U.S. 865, 83 S.Ct. 126, 9 L.Ed.2d 102 (1962).  See also
Williams v. Parke, supra, 741 F.2d at 850 (trial court's instructions implicitly advised jurors of
their right to continue disagreeing by alluding to the possibility that a new jury might be
necessary, and by telling them to return to court if they could not agree).  The Committee
believes that such language is not necessary given the other language in the instruction
minimizing its coercive effect.  See also United States v. Arpan, 887 F.2d 873, 876 (8th
Cir.1989) (specific instruction on "hung jury" alternative is not required where the district court's
original instructions advised the jurors that they should try to reach agreement if they could do
so without violence to individual judgment, and that they should not surrender their honest
convictions for the mere purpose of returning a verdict).

Paragraph (6) is patterned after language included in Fifth Circuit Instruction 1.41 and
Eleventh Circuit Trial Instruction 6.  It is designed to blunt the potential coercive effect of a
supplemental charge by explicitly telling the jurors that they should take as much time as they
need, and that nothing said by the court in the supplemental charge was meant to try and rush or
pressure them into reaching a verdict.  As indicated by the Sixth Circuit in United States v.
Markey, 693 F.2d 594, 597 (6th Cir.1982), supplemental instructions should convey the
impression that it is more important to be thoughtful than it is to be quick.

A strong argument can be made that a supplemental charge should explicitly remind the
jurors that the government bears the burden of proof in a criminal case, and that if the
government has failed to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, then the defendant is entitled to
a not guilty verdict. These concepts were included in the seminal version of the Allen charge. 
See Pugliano v. United States, 348 F.2d 902, 903-904 (1st Cir.), cert. denied, 382 U.S. 939, 86
S.Ct. 390, 15 L.Ed.2d 349 (1965), discussing Commonwealth v. Tuey, 62 Mass. (8 Cush) 1, 2-3
(1851).  Sixth Circuit cases have said that such a reminder "may be desirable," United States v.
LaRiche, 549 F.2d 1088, 1093 (6th Cir.), cert. denied, 430 U.S. 987, 97 S.Ct. 1687, 52 L.Ed.2d
383 (1977), or even required under particular circumstances.  See United States v. Lewis, 651
F.2d 1163, 1165 (6th Cir.1981) (given the weakness of the evidence against the defendant and
the jury's difficulty in weighing the evidence, it was improper not to reinstruct on the
government's burden of proving guilt beyond a reasonable doubt).  Fifth Circuit Instruction 1.41,
Eleventh Circuit Trial Instruction 6 and Devitt and Blackmar Instruction 18.14 all include an



explicit reminder regarding these concepts.

The Committee rejected this approach in favor of an implicit reminder in paragraph (4). 
Language in that paragraph directs those jurors who believe that the government has proved the
defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt to stop and ask themselves if the evidence is
sufficiently convincing in light of the fact that other jurors are not convinced.  Other language
then directs those jurors who believe that the government has not proved the defendant guilty
beyond a reasonable doubt to stop and ask themselves if their doubt is a reasonable one in light
of the fact that other jurors do not share their doubt.  This language works the reasonable doubt
concept into the instruction in a neutral and evenhanded way that does not tip the scales towards
a not guilty verdict.  While an explicit reminder that is slanted toward a not guilty verdict may be
appropriate in unusual cases, or in supplemental instructions like Fifth Circuit Instruction 1.41,
Eleventh Circuit Trial Instruction 6, or Devitt and Blackmar Instruction 18.14, all of which
single out and focus exclusively on minority jurors, such a reminder would upset the balanced
nature of this instruction, which directs all the jurors to reconsider their views.

The Sixth Circuit has strongly condemned language that tells jurors the case must be
"decided" at some time by some jury, on the ground that such language is coercive and
misleading because it precludes the right of a defendant to rely on the possibility of continuing
juror disagreement.  United States v. Harris, supra, 391 F.2d at 355.  In contrast, the Sixth Circuit
has said that there is a clear distinction between language stating that the case must be "decided"
and language stating that the case must be "disposed" of.  Id. at 356.  The latter "merely restates
the obvious proposition that all cases must come to an end at some point, whether by verdict or
otherwise."  United States v. LaRiche, supra, 549 F.2d at 1092.

While this distinction may be clear to lawyers, lay jurors are unlikely to grasp or
understand it without further explanation.  For this reason, the proposed instruction omits any
such language.  It should be noted, however, that paragraph (2) emphasizes the related concept
that no subsequent jury is likely to be in any better position to decide the case.



9.05 QUESTIONABLE UNANIMITY AFTER POLLING

  (1) It appears from the poll we just took that your verdict may not be unanimous.  So I am
going to ask that you return to the jury room.

  (2) If you are unanimous, tell the jury officer that you want to return to the courtroom, and we
will poll you again.  If you are not unanimous, please resume your deliberations.  Talk to each
other, and make every reasonable effort you can to reach unanimous agreement, if you can do so
honestly and in good conscience.

Use Note

This instruction should be used when a poll of the jury indicates that a proffered verdict
may not be unanimous.

Depending on the circumstances, the court may wish to expand on the concepts contained
in the last sentence of paragraph (2).

Committee Commentary 9.05
(current through December 31, 2007)

The Committee made no change in the instruction.  The Committee also decided that no
change in or addition to the 1991 Committee Commentary is warranted.

1991 Edition

Most of the sources surveyed include an instruction to be used when a poll of the jury
indicates that a proffered verdict may not be unanimous.  See Seventh Circuit Instruction 7.07,
Eighth Circuit Instruction 10.03, Ninth Circuit Instruction 7.06, Federal Judicial Center
Instruction 59, D.C. Bar Instruction 2.93, Devitt and Blackmar Instruction 18.17, Saltzburg and
Perlman Instruction 3.70 and Sand and Siffert Instruction 9-12.

This instruction is patterned after Saltzburg and Perlman Instruction 3.70 and Federal
Judicial Center Instruction 59.  Depending on the circumstances, the district court may wish to
expand on the last sentence which briefly summarizes the concepts contained in Instructions 8.04
and 9.04.



Chapter 10.00

FRAUD OFFENSES

Introduction to Fraud Instructions
(current through December 31, 2007)

The pattern instructions cover three fraud offenses with elements instructions:

Instruction 10.01 Mail Fraud (18 U.S.C. § 1341);
Instruction 10.02 Wire Fraud (18 U.S.C. § 1343); and
Instruction 10.03 Bank Fraud (18 U.S.C. § 1344).

In addition, Instruction 10.04 Fraud – Good Faith Defense is included to use in conjunction with
the fraud instructions.

The elements of mail, wire and bank fraud are similar except for the jurisdictional
elements.  The Committee drafted separate instructions for the three offenses as the most
efficient way to reflect the different jurisdictional bases.  Beyond the jurisdictional bases, the
mail, wire and bank fraud offenses are read in tandem and case law on the three is largely
interchangeable.  See Carpenter v. United States, 484 U.S. 19, 25 n.6 (1987) (“The mail and wire
fraud statutes share the same language in relevant part, and accordingly we apply the same
analysis to both sets of offenses here.”); United States v. McAuliffe, 490 F.3d 526, 532 n.3 (6th
Cir. 2007) (“The bank, mail and wire fraud statutes all employ identical ‘scheme to defraud’
language and thus are to be interpreted in pari materia.”) (citations omitted);  United States v.
Daniel, 329 F.3d 480, 486 n.1 (6th Cir. 2003); Hofstetter v. Fletcher, 905 F.2d 897, 902 (6th Cir.
1988) (“This court has held that the wire fraud statutory language should be interpreted with the
same breadth as the analogous language in the mail fraud statute.”) (citations omitted); Neder v.
United States, 527 U.S. 1, 20-21 (1999) (bank fraud statute was modeled on and is similar to the
mail and wire fraud statutes).

These instructions do not cover fraud based on a deprivation of the intangible right to
honest services as provided in 18 U.S.C. § 1346.



Chapter 10.00

FRAUD OFFENSES
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10.01  MAIL FRAUD  (18 U.S.C. § 1341)   

(1) The defendant is charged with the crime of mail fraud. For you to find the defendant
guilty of mail fraud, you must find that the government has proved each and every one of the
following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

(A) First, that the defendant [knowingly participated in] [devised] [intended to devise] a
scheme to defraud in order to obtain money or property, that is _______ [describe scheme from
indictment]; 

(B) Second, that the scheme included a material misrepresentation or concealment of a
material fact; 

(C) Third, that the defendant had the intent to defraud; and 

(D) Fourth, that the defendant [used the mail] [caused another to use the mail] in
furtherance of the scheme. 

(2) Now I will give you more detailed instructions on some of these terms.

(A) A “scheme to defraud” includes any plan or course of action by which someone
intends to deprive another of money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promises.  

(B) The term “false or fraudulent pretenses, representations or promises” means any false
statements or assertions that concern a material aspect of the matter in question, that were either
known to be untrue when made or made with reckless indifference to their truth.  They include
actual, direct false statements as well as half-truths and the knowing concealment of material
facts.

 (C) An act is “knowingly” done if done voluntarily and intentionally, and not because of
mistake or some other innocent reason.

(D) A misrepresentation or concealment is “material” if it has a natural tendency to
influence or is capable of influencing the decision of a person of ordinary prudence and
comprehension.

(E) To act with “intent to defraud” means to act with an intent to deceive or cheat for the
purpose of either causing a financial loss to another or bringing about a financial gain to oneself
[to another person].

(F) To “cause” the mail to be used is to do an act with knowledge that the use of the mail
will follow in the ordinary course of business or where such use can reasonably be foreseen.

(3) [It is not necessary that the government prove [all of the details alleged concerning the



precise nature and purpose of the scheme]  [that the material transmitted by mail was itself false
or fraudulent]  [that the alleged scheme actually succeeded in defrauding anyone] [that the use of
the mail was intended as the specific or exclusive means of accomplishing the alleged fraud]
[that someone relied on the misrepresentation or false statement].]

(4)  If you are convinced that the government has proved all of the elements, say so by
returning a guilty verdict on this charge.  If you have a reasonable doubt about any one of the
elements, then you must find the defendant not guilty of this charge.

Use Note

Brackets indicate options for the court.

Throughout the instruction, the word “mail” should be replaced by the term “private or
commercial interstate carrier” if the facts warrant.

Paragraph (1)(D) should be amended to include the receipt of mail if the facts warrant.

In paragraph (2)(D),  the word “person” should be replaced with entity or corporation or
agency as the facts warrant.

The provisions of paragraph (3) should be used only if relevant.

See also Instruction 2.09 Deliberate Ignorance.

If there is any evidence at all of good faith, the court should refer to Instruction 10.04
Fraud – Good Faith Defense.

Committee Commentary Instruction 10.01
(current through December 31, 2007)

This instruction does not cover mail fraud based on a deprivation of the intangible right to
honest services as provided in 18 U.S.C. § 1346.

To define the elements of mail fraud, the Committee relied primarily on Neder v. United
States, 527 U.S.1 (1999); United States v. Gold Unlimited, Inc., 177 F.3d 472 (6th Cir. 1999) and
United States v. Frost, 125 F.3d 346 (6th Cir. 1997).

 The specific language used in paragraph (1) of the instruction is drawn from two cases. 
Paragraphs (1)(A), (1)(C) and (1)(D) are based on United States v. Gold Unlimited, Inc., supra at
478-79.  Paragraph (1)(B), which covers materiality, is based on Neder v. United States, supra.

In paragraph (1)(A), the statement that the “scheme to defraud” must be a “scheme to



defraud in order to obtain money or property” is based on Cleveland v. United States, 531 U.S.
12 (2000) and McNally v. United States, 483 U.S. 350 (1987).  In McNally, the Court noted that
based on the disjunctive phrasing of the mail fraud statute, which refers to “a scheme to defraud,
or for obtaining money or property,” it was arguable that the two phrases should be construed
independently.  However, the Court then rejected this construction, explaining that the second
phrase merely modifies the first.  McNally, 483 U.S. at 358-59.  In Cleveland, the Court
reiterated this interpretation of the statute:

We reaffirm our reading of § 1341 in McNally.   . . .  Were the Government correct that
the second phrase of § 1341 defines a separate offense, the statute would appear to arm
federal prosecutors with power to police false statements in an enormous range of
submissions to state and local authorities.   . . .  [W]e decline to attribute to § 1341 a
purpose so encompassing where Congress has not made such a design clear.

Cleveland, 531 U.S. at 25-26.

In paragraph (1)(A) the reference to participation is based on other circuits’ pattern
instructions, including the Seventh Circuit instruction on the elements of mail fraud (“defendant
... [devised] [or] [participated in] the scheme”); Eleventh Circuit Instruction 50.1 (“defendant ...
devised or participated in a scheme....”) and First Circuit Instruction 4.12 (“defendant’s ...
participation in this scheme....”).  The Seventh Circuit instruction is presumably based on United
States v. Wilson, 506 F.2d 1252, 1258 (7th Cir. 1974), where the court affirmed an instruction
stating that “the Government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that defendants or any one or
more of them participated in a scheme to defraud.”

The definition of “scheme to defraud” in paragraph (2)(A) is based on United States v.
Daniel, 329 F.3d 480, 485-86 (6th Cir. 2003), citing United States v. Gold Unlimited, Inc., supra
at 479.  In the instruction, the words "by deception" were omitted because that requirement is
adequately covered in paragraph (2)(E) defining intent to defraud.  In Daniel, the court further
states, “The scheme to defraud element required under 18 U.S.C. § 1341 is not defined according
to a technical standard.  The standard is a ‘reflection of moral uprightness, of fundamental
honesty, fair play and right dealing in the general and business life of members of society.’” 
Daniel, 329 F.3d at 486 (brackets and some internal quotation marks omitted), quoting United
States v. Van Dyke, 605 F.2d 220, 225 (6th Cir. 1979).

 The definition of “false or fraudulent pretenses, representations or promises” in
paragraph (2)(B) is based on the definition of “false or fraudulent pretenses” in First Circuit
Instruction 4.12 Mail Fraud.  In the instruction, the Committee omitted a reference to the intent to
defraud because that element is covered in paragraph (2)(E).  The Sixth Circuit has approved
similar definitions, see United States v. Stull, 743 F.2d 439, 446 (6th Cir. 1984) and United
States v. O’Boyle, 680 F.2d 34, 36 (6th Cir. 1982).  See also Instruction 2.09 Deliberate
Ignorance.

The definition of  “knowingly” in paragraph (2)(C) is drawn from the jury instructions
given in United States v. McGuire, 744 F.2d 1197, 1201 (6th Cir. 1984). 

The definition of “material” in paragraph (2)(D) is based on Neder v. United States, supra



at 16, quoting United States v. Gaudin, 515 U.S. 506, 509 (1995).

The “intent to defraud” definition in paragraph (2)(E) is a restatement of the language in
Frost, 125 F.3d at 371.  The court quoted this definition with approval in United States v.
McAuliffe, 490 F.3d 526, 531 (6th Cir. 2007).  For other phrasing of the definition, see United
States v. Daniel, supra at 487, quoting United States v. DeSantis, 134 F.3d 760, 764 (6th Cir.
1998).

The definition of “cause” in paragraph (2)(F) is based on Frost, 125 F.3d at 354, citing
United States v. Oldfield, 859 F.2d 392, 400 (6th Cir. 1988).

Paragraph (3) lists some but not all items the government is not required to prove.  Many
pattern instructions include such a provision.  This language is patterned after First Circuit
Instruction 4.12; Fifth Circuit Instruction 2.59; Eighth Circuit Instruction 6.18.1341; and
Eleventh Circuit Instruction 50.1.  These provisions should be used only if relevant.

To define the mens rea for mail fraud, some authority requires that the defendant
knowingly devised or intended to devise a scheme to defraud, and that the defendant acted with
the intent to defraud.   The court endorses these terms several times in Gold Unlimited, Inc., 177
F.3d at 478-79, 485, 488.  See also United States v. Reaume, 338 F.3d 577, 580 (6th Cir.
2003)(bank fraud requires “intent to defraud”); United States v. Everett, 270 F.3d 986, 989 (6th

Cir. 2001)(same).  In other cases, the court has referred to the mens rea as the “specific” intent to
defraud, see, e.g., Daniel, 329 F.3d at 487; Frost, 125 F.3d at 354 (“A defendant does not
commit mail fraud unless he possesses the specific intent to deceive or defraud....”); United
States v. Smith, 39 F.3d 119, 121-22 (6th Cir. 1994).   The instruction omits the word “specific.” 
See also Committee Commentary to Instruction 2.07 Specific Intent.

Intent and knowledge need not be proved directly.  Pattern Instruction 2.08 Inferring
Required Mental State states this principle and should be given in appropriate cases.  In addition,
Pattern Instruction 2.09 Deliberate Ignorance explains one approach to proving knowledge.

In Neder v. United States, supra at 25, the Court held that materiality is an element of a
“scheme or artifice to defraud” under mail, wire and bank fraud.  Although this element is not
found in a “natural reading” of the statute, the court relied on the rule of construction “ ‘[w]here
Congress uses terms that have accumulated settled meaning under ... the common law, a court
must infer, unless the statute otherwise dictates, that Congress means to incorporate the
established meaning of these terms.’ ” 527 U.S. at 21.  At common law, the word “fraud”
required proof of materiality.  Because Congress did not indicate otherwise, the Court presumed
that Congress intended to incorporate “materiality.”

The definition of materiality is as follows: “In general, a false statement is material if it
has ‘a natural tendency to influence, or [is] capable of influencing, the decision of the decision
making body to which it was addressed.’” Id. at 16, quoting Gaudin, 515 U.S. at 509.

As to whether the fraud must be capable of deceiving persons based on a subjective



(“however gullible”) standard or an objective (“person of ordinary prudence”) standard, in most
cases the objective standard provided in paragraph (2)(D) of the instruction is appropriate.  The
Sixth Circuit has stated that the standard to be used is an objective one.  See, e.g., United States
v. Jamieson, 427 F.3d 394, 415-16 (6th Cir. 2005); Berendt v. Kemper Corp., 973 F.2d 1291,
1294 (6th Cir. 1992); Blount Fin. Servs., Inc. v. Walter E. Heller and Co., 819 F.2d 151, 153 (6th
Cir. 1987); and United States v. Van Dyke, 605 F.2d 220, 225 (6th Cir. 1979).  In Frost, supra,
the court affirmed an instruction with an objective standard, but the issue of objective-vs.-
subjective-standard was not raised.  Frost, 125 F.3d at 371 (affirming instruction which
provided, “There must be proof of either a misrepresentation, false statement, or omission
calculated to deceive a person of ordinary prudence and comprehension.”).  However, none of
these cases involved vulnerable victims who were targeted by the defendant specifically because
of their vulnerability.  If this situation arises, the parties should address whether the appropriate
standard is objective or subjective based on the facts of the case.

Outside the Sixth Circuit, there is a split of authority on this issue.  In United States v.
Brown, 79 F.3d 1550, 1557 (11th Cir. 1996), the court adopts an objective standard while noting
a circuit split on the question.  The court stated, “The ‘person of ordinary prudence’ standard is
an objective standard not directly tied to the experiences of a specific person or persons.”  Id.   
Accord, United States v. Cochran, 109 F.3d 660, 665 (10th Cir. 1997)(“The objective reference
to ‘persons of ordinary prudence or comprehension’ assists in determining whether the accused’s
conduct was ‘calculated to deceive.’”)  In describing the circuit split, the Eleventh Circuit in
Brown cites two cases that hold that fraud can even be found where only the “most gullible”
person would be deceived.  Brown, 79 F.3d at 1557, citing U.S. v. Brien, 617 F.2d 299, 311 (1st
Cir. 1980); U.S. v. Maxwell, 920 F.2d 1028, 1036 (D.C. Cir. 1990).  The Eleventh Circuit further
discusses the appropriate standard, without deciding the question, in United States v. Yeager, 331
F.3d 1216, 1221-24 (11th Cir. 2003).  A law review article summarizes the debate among the
circuits and offers insights and solutions, see Zingale, Fashioning a Victim Standard in Mail and
Wire Fraud: Ordinarily Prudent Person or Monumentally Credulous Gull?, 99 Colum. L. Rev.
795 (1999).  

Jurisdiction for a mail fraud conviction requires the defendant to deposit, receive, or
cause to be deposited any matter or thing to be sent or delivered by the United States Postal
Service or any private or commercial interstate carrier for the purpose of executing a scheme to
defraud.  18 U.S.C. § 1341. 

As to the required connection between the scheme to defraud or obtain property and the
use of the mails, the Supreme Court has stated:  “The federal mail fraud statute does not purport
to reach all frauds, but only those limited instances in which the use of the mails is a part of the
execution of the fraud.....”  Schmuck v. United States, 489 U.S. 705, 710 (1989).  The Court
explained: “To be a part of the execution of the fraud . . . the use of the mails need not be an
essential element of the scheme.  It is sufficient for the mailing to be ‘incident to an essential part
of the scheme,’ or ‘a step in [the] plot.’” Schmuck, 489 U.S. at 710 (internal citations and
quotation marks omitted).  The Court then stated:  “The relevant question at all times is whether
the mailing is part of the execution of the scheme as conceived by the perpetrator at the time,
regardless of whether the mailing later, through hindsight, may prove to have been



counterproductive and return to haunt the perpetrator of the fraud.”  Id. at 715.  

A mail fraud conviction can be based on mailings that were legally required.  As the court
explains, “Further, ‘the mailings may be innocent or even legally necessary.’”   Frost, 125 F.3d at
354, quoting United States v. Oldfield, 859 F.2d 392, 400 (6th Cir. 1988), in turn quoting United
States v. Decastris, 798 F.2d 261, 263 (7th Cir. 1986).

It is not necessary that the defendant actually mail the material.  See 18 U.S.C. § 1341
(mail fraud committed where defendant causes the mails to be used).  The Supreme Court has
explained that one causes a mailing when “one does an act with knowledge that the use of the
mails will follow in the ordinary course of business, or where such use can reasonably be
foreseen, even though not actually intended.”  Pereira v. United States, 347 U.S. 1, 8-9 (1954);
accord, Frost, 125 F.3d at 354 (mailing need only be reasonably foreseeable).

A pyramid scheme is a scheme to defraud.  See United States v. Gold Unlimited, Inc.,
supra at 484-85.



10.02  WIRE FRAUD  (18 U.S.C. § 1343)

(1) The defendant is charged with the crime of wire fraud. For you to find the defendant
guilty of wire fraud, you must find that the government has proved each and every one of the
following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

(A) First, that the defendant [knowingly participated in] [devised] [intended to devise] a
scheme to defraud in order to obtain money or property, that is _______ [describe scheme from
indictment]; 

(B) Second, that the scheme included a material misrepresentation or concealment of a
material fact; 

(C) Third, that the defendant had the intent to defraud; and 

(D) Fourth, that the defendant [used wire, radio or television communications] [caused
another to use wire, radio or television communications] in interstate [foreign] commerce in
furtherance of the scheme. 

(2) Now I will give you more detailed instructions on some of these terms.

(A) A “scheme to defraud” includes any plan or course of action by which someone
intends to deprive another of money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promises.  

(B) The term “false or fraudulent pretenses, representations or promises” means any false
statements or assertions that concern a material aspect of the matter in question, that were either
known to be untrue when made or made with reckless indifference to their truth.  They include
actual, direct false statements as well as half-truths and the knowing concealment of material
facts.

 (C) An act is “knowingly” done if done voluntarily and intentionally, and not because of
mistake or some other innocent reason.

(D) A misrepresentation or concealment is “material” if it has a natural tendency to
influence or is capable of influencing the decision of a person of ordinary prudence and
comprehension.

(E) To act with “intent to defraud” means to act with an intent to deceive or cheat for the
purpose of either causing a financial loss to another or bringing about a financial gain to oneself
[to another person].

(F) To “cause” wire, radio or television communications to be used is to do an act with
knowledge that the use of the communications will follow in the ordinary course of business or
where such use can reasonably be foreseen.



(G) The term “interstate [foreign] commerce” includes wire, radio or television
communications which crossed a state line. 

(3) [It is not necessary that the government prove [all of the details alleged concerning the
precise nature and purpose of the scheme] or [that the material transmitted by wire, radio or
television communications was itself false or fraudulent] or [that the alleged scheme actually
succeeded in defrauding anyone] or [that the use of the wire, radio or television communications] 
was intended as the specific or exclusive means of accomplishing the alleged fraud] or [that
someone relied on the misrepresentation or false statement].] 

(4)  If you are convinced that the government has proved all of the elements, say so by
returning a guilty verdict on this charge.  If you have a reasonable doubt about any one of the
elements, then you must find the defendant not guilty of this charge.

Use Note

Brackets indicate options for the court.

In paragraph (2)(D),  the word “person” should be replaced with entity or corporation or
agency as the facts warrant.

In paragraph (2)(D), the bracketed sentence should be given if the court decides to use the
objective standard for the definition of materiality; this issue is discussed in detail infra in the
Committee Commentary.

The provisions of paragraph (3) should be used only if relevant to the case.

See also Instruction 2.09 Deliberate Ignorance.

If there is any evidence at all of good faith, the court should refer to Instruction 10.04
Fraud – Good Faith Defense.

Committee Commentary Instruction 10.02
(current through December 31, 2007)

This instruction does not cover wire fraud based on a deprivation of the intangible right to
honest services as provided in 18 U.S.C. § 1346.

The wire fraud statute was modeled after the mail fraud statute, and therefore the same
analysis should be used for both. Carpenter v. United States, 484 U.S. 19, 25 n.6 (1987).  “The
wire fraud statutory language should be interpreted with the same breadth as the analogous
language in the mail fraud statute.” Hofstetter v. Fletcher, 905 F.2d 897, 902 (6th Cir. 1988). 
The only difference in the two offenses is the jurisdictional base.



To define the elements of wire fraud, the Committee relied primarily on Neder v. United
States, 527 U.S.1 (1999); United States v. Gold Unlimited, Inc., 177 F.3d 472 (6th Cir. 1999) and
United States v. Frost, 125 F.3d 346 (6th Cir. 1997).  In the context of wire fraud, the Sixth
Circuit identified the elements in United States v. Smith, 39 F.3d 119, 122 (6th Cir. 1994) and
United States v. Ames Sintering Company, 927 F.2d 232, 234 (6th Cir. 1990).

 The specific language of the instruction is drawn from three sources.  Paragraphs (1)(A)
and (1)(C) are based on United States v. Gold Unlimited, Inc., supra at 478.  Paragraph (1)(B),
which describes materiality, is based on the language from Neder v. United States, supra. 
Paragraph (1)(D) is based on United States v. Smith, supra at 122.

In paragraph (1)(A), the statement that the “scheme to defraud” must be a “scheme to
defraud in order to obtain money or property” is based on Cleveland v. United States, 531 U.S.
12 (2000) and McNally v. United States, 483 U.S. 350 (1987).  In McNally, the Court noted that
based on the disjunctive phrasing of the mail fraud statute, which refers to “a scheme to defraud,
or for obtaining money or property,” it was arguable that the two phrases should be construed
independently.  However, the Court then rejected this construction, explaining that the second
phrase merely modifies the first.  McNally, 483 U.S. at 358-59.  In Cleveland, the Court
reiterated this interpretation of the statute:

We reaffirm our reading of § 1341 in McNally.   . . .  Were the Government correct that
the second phrase of § 1341 defines a separate offense, the statute would appear to arm
federal prosecutors with power to police false statements in an enormous range of
submissions to state and local authorities.   . . .  [W]e decline to attribute to § 1341 a
purpose so encompassing where Congress has not made such a design clear.

Cleveland, 531 U.S. at 25-26.

In paragraph (1)(D), the phrase “wire, radio or television communications” is drawn from
the statute.  Some Sixth Circuit cases use the term “electronic communications,” see, e.g., United
States v. Daniel, 329 F.3d 480, 489 (6th Cir. 2003); VanDenBroeck v. CommonPoint Mortgage
Co., 210 F.3d 696, 701 (6th Cir. 2000); United States v. Smith, supra at 122.

The definition of “scheme to defraud” in paragraph (2)(A) is based on United States v.
Daniel, supra at 485-86, citing Gold Unlimited, Inc., 177 F.3d at 479.  In the instruction, the
words "by deception" were omitted because that requirement is adequately covered in paragraph
(2)(E) defining intent to defraud.  In Daniel, the court further states, “The scheme to defraud
element required under 18 U.S.C. § 1341 is not defined according to a technical standard.  The
standard is a ‘reflection of moral uprightness, of fundamental honesty, fair play and right dealing
in the general and business life of members of society.’”  Daniel, 329 F.3d at 486 (6th Cir.
2003)(brackets and some internal quotation marks omitted), quoting United States v. Van Dyke,
605 F.2d 220, 225 (6th Cir. 1979).

 The definition of “false or fraudulent pretenses, representations or promises” in
paragraph (2)(B) is based on the definition of “false or fraudulent pretenses” in First Circuit
Instruction 4.12 Mail Fraud.  In the instruction, the Committee omitted a reference to the intent to
defraud because that element is covered in paragraph (2)(E).  The Sixth Circuit has approved



similar definitions, see United States v. Stull, 743 F.2d 439, 446 (6th Cir. 1984) and United
States v. O’Boyle, 680 F.2d 34, 36 (6th Cir. 1982).  See also Instruction 2.09 Deliberate
Ignorance.

The definition of  “knowingly” in paragraph (2)(C) is drawn from the jury instructions
given in United States v. McGuire, 744 F.2d 1197, 1201 (6th Cir. 1984).

 The definition of “material” in paragraph (2)(D) is based on Neder v. United States,
supra at 16, quoting United States v. Gaudin, 515 U.S. 506, 509 (1995).

The “intent to defraud” definition in paragraph (2)(E) is a restatement of the language in
Frost, 125 F.3d at 371.  The court quoted this definition with approval in United States v.
McAuliffe, 490 F.3d 526, 531 (6th Cir. 2007).  For other phrasing of the definition, see United
States v. Daniel, supra at 487, quoting United States v. DeSantis, 134 F.3d 760, 764 (6th Cir.
1998).

The “cause” language in paragraph (2)(F) is drawn from United States v. Frost, 125 F.3d
346, 354 (6th Cir. 1997), citing United States v. Oldfield, 859 F.2d 392, 400 (6th Cir. 1988).

Paragraph (3) lists some but not all items the government is not required to prove.  Many
pattern instructions include such a provision.  This language is patterned after the language used
in First Circuit Instruction 4.12; Fifth Circuit Instruction 2.61; Eighth Circuit Instruction 6.18;
and Eleventh Circuit Instruction 50.1.  These provisions should be used only if relevant.

To define the mens rea for wire fraud, some authority requires that the defendant
knowingly devised or intended to devise a scheme to defraud, and that the defendant acted with
the intent to defraud.   The court endorses these terms several times in Gold Unlimited, Inc., 177
F.3d at 478-79, 485, 488.  See also United States v. Reaume, 338 F.3d 577, 580 (6th Cir.
2003)(bank fraud requires “intent to defraud”); United States v. Everett, 270 F.3d 986, 989 (6th
Cir. 2001)(same).  In other cases, the court has referred to the mens rea as the “specific” intent to
defraud, see, e.g., United States v. Daniel, supra at 487 (6th Cir. 2003); United States v. Frost,
supra at 354 (“A defendant does not commit mail fraud unless he possesses the specific intent to
deceive or defraud....”); United States v. Smith, supra at 121-22.   The instruction omits the word
“specific.”  See also Committee Commentary to Instruction 2.07 Specific Intent.

Intent and knowledge need not be proved directly.  Pattern Instruction 2.08, Inferring
Required Mental State, states this principle and should be given in appropriate cases.  In addition,
Pattern Instruction 2.09 Deliberate Ignorance describes one approach to proving knowledge.

In Neder v. United States, supra, the Court held that materiality is an element of a
“scheme or artifice to defraud” under mail, wire and bank fraud.  Although this element is not
found in a “natural reading” of the statute, the court relied on the rule of construction “ ‘[w]here
Congress uses terms that have accumulated settled meaning under ... the common law, a court
must infer, unless the statute otherwise dictates, that Congress means to incorporate the
established meaning of these terms.’ ” 527 U.S. at 21.  At common law, the word “fraud” 



required proof of materiality.  Because Congress did not indicate otherwise, the Court presumed
that Congress intended to incorporate “materiality.”

The definition of materiality is as follows: “In general, a false statement is material if it
has ‘a natural tendency to influence, or [is] capable of influencing, the decision of the decision
making body to which it was addressed.’” Id. at 16, quoting Gaudin, 515 U.S. at 509.

As to whether the fraud must be capable of deceiving persons based on a subjective
(“however gullible”) standard or an objective (“person of ordinary prudence”) standard, in most
cases the objective standard provided in paragraph (2)(D) of the instruction is appropriate.  The
Sixth Circuit has stated that the standard to be used is an objective one.  See, e.g., United States
v. Jamieson, 427 F.3d 394, 415-16 (6th Cir. 2005); Berendt v. Kemper Corp., 973 F.2d 1291,
1294 (6th Cir. 1992); Blount Fin. Servs., Inc. v. Walter E. Heller and Co., 819 F.2d 151, 153 (6th
Cir. 1987); and United States v. Van Dyke, 605 F.2d 220, 225 (6th Cir. 1979).  In Frost, supra,
the court affirmed an instruction with an objective standard, but the issue of objective-vs.-
subjective-standard was not raised.  Frost, 125 F.3d at 371 (affirming instruction which
provided, “There must be proof of either a misrepresentation, false statement, or omission
calculated to deceive a person of ordinary prudence and comprehension.”).  However, none of
these cases involved vulnerable victims who were targeted by the defendant specifically because
of their vulnerability.  If this situation arises, the parties should address whether the appropriate
standard is objective or subjective based on the facts of the case.

Outside the Sixth Circuit, there is a split of authority on this issue.  In United States v.
Brown, 79 F.3d 1550, 1557 (11th Cir. 1996), the court adopts an objective standard while noting
a circuit split on the question.  The court stated, “The ‘person of ordinary prudence’ standard is
an objective standard not directly tied to the experiences of a specific person or persons.”  Id.   
Accord, United States v. Cochran, 109 F.3d 660, 665 (10th Cir. 1997)(“The objective reference
to ‘persons of ordinary prudence or comprehension’ assists in determining whether the accused’s
conduct was ‘calculated to deceive.’”)  In describing the circuit split, the Eleventh Circuit in
Brown cites two cases that hold that fraud can even be found where only the “most gullible”
person would be deceived.  Brown, 79 F.3d at 1557, citing U.S. v. Brien, 617 F.2d 299, 311 (1st
Cir. 1980); U.S. v. Maxwell, 920 F.2d 1028, 1036 (D.C. Cir. 1990).  The Eleventh Circuit further
discusses the appropriate standard, without deciding the question, in United States v. Yeager, 331
F.3d 1216, 1221-24 (11th Cir. 2003).  A law review article summarizes the debate among the
circuits and offers insights and solutions, see Zingale, Fashioning a Victim Standard in Mail and
Wire Fraud: Ordinarily Prudent Person or Monumentally Credulous Gull?, 99 Colum. L. Rev.
795 (1999).  

As to the required connection between the scheme to defraud and the use of the wires, in
the context of mail fraud the Supreme Court has stated:  “The federal mail fraud statute does not
purport to reach all frauds, but only those limited instances in which the use of the mails is a part
of the execution of the fraud.....”  Schmuck v. United States, 489 U.S. 705, 710 (1989).  The
Court explained: “To be a part of the execution of the fraud . . . the use of the mails need not be
an essential element of the scheme.  It is sufficient for the mailing to be ‘incident to an essential
part of the scheme,’ or ‘a step in [the] plot.’” Id. at 710-11 (internal citations and quotation marks 



omitted).  The Court then stated:  “The relevant question at all times is whether the mailing is
part of the execution of the scheme as conceived by the perpetrator at the time, regardless of
whether the mailing later, through hindsight, may prove to have been counterproductive and
return to haunt the perpetrator of the fraud.”  Id. at 715.

In paragraph (1)(A) the reference to participation is based on the Seventh Circuit
instruction on the elements of mail fraud, which includes the phrase “[or] [participated in] the
scheme” and on Eleventh Circuit Instruction 50.1, which includes the phrase “devised or
participated in a scheme.”  The Seventh Circuit instruction is presumably based on United States
v. Wilson, 506 F.2d 1252, 1258 (7th Cir. 1974), where the court affirmed an instruction stating
that “the Government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that defendants or any one or more
of them participated in a scheme to defraud.”

A pyramid scheme is a scheme to defraud.  See Gold Unlimited, Inc., 177 F.3d at 484-85.



10.03  BANK FRAUD (18 U.S.C. § 1344)

(1) The defendant is charged with the crime of bank fraud.  For you to find the defendant
guilty of bank fraud, you must find that the government has proved each and every one of the
following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

(A) First, that the defendant [knowingly executed] [attempted to execute] a scheme [to
defraud a financial institution][to obtain money or other property owned by or in the control of a
financial institution by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations or promises]; 

(B) Second, that the scheme [related to a material fact][included a material
misrepresentation or concealment of a material fact]; 

(C) Third, that the defendant had the intent to defraud; and 

(D) Fourth, that the financial institution was federally insured.

(2) Now I will give you more detailed instructions on some of these terms.

(A) A “scheme to defraud” includes any plan or course of action by which someone
intends to deprive another of money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promises.  

(B) The term “false or fraudulent pretenses, representations or promises” means any false
statements or assertions that concern a material aspect of the matter in question, that were either
known to be untrue when made or made with reckless indifference to their truth.  They include
actual, direct false statements as well as half-truths and the knowing concealment of material
facts.

(C) An act is “knowingly” done if done voluntarily and intentionally, and not because of
mistake or some other innocent reason.

(D) A misrepresentation or concealment is “material” if it has a natural tendency to
influence or is capable of influencing the decision of a person of ordinary prudence and
comprehension.

(E) To act with “intent to defraud” means to act with an intent to deceive or cheat for the
purpose of either causing a financial loss to another or bringing about a financial gain to oneself
[to another person].

(3)  [It is not necessary that the government prove [all of the details alleged concerning
the precise nature and purpose of the scheme] [that the alleged scheme actually succeeded in
defrauding anyone] [that someone relied on the misrepresentation or false statement] [that the 



defendant benefitted personally from the scheme to defraud the financial institution] [that the
financial institution suffered a loss].]

(4)  If you are convinced that the government has proved all of the elements, say so by
returning a guilty verdict on this charge.  If you have a reasonable doubt about any one of the
elements, then you must find the defendant not guilty of this charge.

Use Note

Brackets indicate options for the court.

In paragraph (1)(A), some of the types of property listed in § (2) of the bank fraud statute, 
i.e., "funds, credits, assets, securities," were omitted because they are adequately covered by the
simpler phrase "money or other property."

In paragraph (1)(B),  use language in the first bracket for prosecutions based solely on §
1344(1); use language in the second bracket for prosecutions based solely on § 1344(2); use
language in both brackets if the prosecution is based on both sections.

Paragraph (1)(D) fits most cases but a particular definition of financial institution may be
selected from the list in 18 U.S.C. § 20 to fit the facts of each case.

In paragraph (2)(D),  the word “person” should be replaced with entity or corporation or
agency as the facts warrant.

In paragraph (2)(D), the bracketed sentence should be given if the court decides to use the
objective standard for the definition of materiality; this issue is discussed in detail infra in the
Committee Commentary.

The provisions of paragraph (3) should be used only if relevant.

See also Instruction 2.09 Deliberate Ignorance.

If there is any evidence at all of good faith, the court should refer to Instruction 10.04
Fraud – Good Faith Defense.

Committee Commentary Instruction 10.03
(current through December 31, 2007)

The elements of bank fraud are defined in Neder v. United States, 527 U.S.1 (1999);
United States v. Everett, 270 F.3d 986, 989 (6th Cir. 2001); and United States v. Hoglund, 178 



F.3d 410, 412-13 (6th Cir. 1999).  The specific language in paragraphs (1)(A), (1)(C), and (1)(D)
is drawn from Everett, 270 F.3d at 989.  The language in paragraph (1)(B) describing materiality
is based on Neder, 527 U.S. at 16.

In paragraph (1)(A), some of the types of property listed in § (2) of the bank fraud statute, 
i.e., "funds, credits, assets, securities," were omitted because they are adequately covered by the
simpler phrase "money or other property."

In paragraph (1)(D), the term "federally insured" is based on the statutory definition of
financial institution as one which is insured by, inter alia, the F.D.I.C. or the National Credit
Union Share Insurance Fund, see 18 U.S.C. § 20(1) and (2).  The court has held that it is an
element of bank fraud that the financial institution be federally insured.  See, e.g., United States
v. Reaume, 338 F.3d 577, 580 (6th Cir. 2003); Everett, 270 F.3d at 989; Hoglund, 178 F.3d at
413. 

The definition of “scheme to defraud” in paragraph (2)(A) is based on United States v.
Daniel, 329 F.3d 480, 485-86 (6th Cir. 2003), citing United States v. Gold Unlimited, Inc., 177
F.3d 472, 479 (6th Cir. 1999).  In the instruction, the words "by deception" were omitted because
that requirement is adequately covered in paragraph (2)(E) defining intent to defraud.  In Daniel,
the court further states, “The scheme to defraud element required under 18 U.S.C. § 1341 is not
defined according to a technical standard.  The standard is a ‘reflection of moral uprightness, of
fundamental honesty, fair play and right dealing in the general and business life of members of
society.’”  United States v. Daniel, supra at 486 (brackets and some internal quotation marks
omitted), quoting United States v. Van Dyke, 605 F.2d 220, 225 (6th Cir. 1979).

 The definition of “false or fraudulent pretenses, representations or promises” in
paragraph (2)(B) is based on the definition of “false or fraudulent pretenses” in First Circuit
Instruction 4.14 Bank Fraud.  In the instruction, the Committee omitted a reference to the intent
to defraud because that element is covered in paragraph (2)(E).  The Sixth Circuit has approved
similar definitions, see United States v. Stull, 743 F.2d 439, 446 (6th Cir. 1984) and United
States v. O’Boyle, 680 F.2d 34, 36 (6th Cir. 1982).  See also Instruction 2.09 Deliberate
Ignorance.

The definition of  “knowingly” in paragraph (2)(C) is drawn from the jury instructions
given in United States v. McGuire, 744 F.2d 1197, 1201 (6th Cir. 1984).

The definition of “material” in paragraph (2)(D) is based on Neder, 527 U.S. at 16,
quoting United States v. Gaudin, 515 U.S. 506, 509 (1995).

The “intent to defraud” definition in paragraph (2)(E) is a restatement of the language in
Frost, 125 F.3d at 371.  The court quoted this definition with approval in United States v.
McAuliffe, 490 F.3d 526, 531 (6th Cir. 2007).  For other phrasing of the definition, see United
States v. Daniel, supra at 487, quoting United States v. DeSantis, 134 F.3d 760, 764 (6th Cir. 



1998).

Paragraph (3) lists some but not all items the government is not required to prove.  Many
pattern instructions include such a provision.  This language is based on United States v. Everett,
supra at 991; and First Circuit Instruction 4.12; Fifth Circuit Instruction 2.61; Eighth Circuit
Instruction 6.18.1341; and Eleventh Circuit Instruction 50.1.  These provisions should be used
only if relevant.

Generally, the bank fraud statute was modeled on and is similar to the mail and wire fraud
statutes.  Neder, 527 U.S. at 20-21.  As noted in the Introduction to the fraud instructions, the
mail, wire and bank fraud offenses are read in tandem and case law on the three is largely
interchangeable.  See Carpenter v. United States, 484 U.S. 19, 25 n.6 (1987) (“The mail and wire
fraud statutes share the same language in relevant part, and accordingly we apply the same
analysis to both sets of offenses here.”); United States v. McAuliffe, 490 F.3d 526, 532 n.3 (6th
Cir. 2007) (“The bank, mail and wire fraud statutes all employ identical ‘scheme to defraud’
language and thus are to be interpreted in pari materia.”) (citations omitted);  Hofstetter v.
Fletcher, 905 F.2d 897, 902 (6th Cir. 1988) (“This court has held that the wire fraud statutory
language should be interpreted with the same breadth as the analogous language in the mail fraud
statute.”)  (citations omitted).

To define the mens rea for bank fraud, some authority requires that the defendant
knowingly devised or intended to devise a scheme to defraud, and that the defendant acted with
the intent to defraud.   The court endorses these terms several times in Gold Unlimited, Inc., 177
F.3d at 478-79, 485, 488.  See also Reaume, 338 F.3d at 580 (bank fraud requires “intent to
defraud”); Everett, 270 F.3d at 989 (same).  In other cases, the court has referred to the mens rea
as the “specific” intent to defraud, see, e.g., Daniel, 329 F.3d at 487; Frost, 125 F.3d at 354 (“A
defendant does not commit mail fraud unless he possesses the specific intent to deceive or
defraud....”); United States v. Smith, 39 F.3d 119, 121-22 (6th Cir. 1994).   The instruction omits
the word “specific.”  See also Committee Commentary to Instruction 2.07 Specific Intent.

Intent and knowledge need not be proved directly.  Pattern Instruction 2.08, Inferring
Required Mental State, states this principle and should be given in appropriate cases.  In addition,
Pattern Instruction 2.09 Deliberate Ignorance describes one approach to proving knowledge.

In Neder, 527 U.S. at 25, the Court held that materiality is an element of a “scheme or
artifice to defraud” under mail, wire and bank fraud.  Although this element is not found in a
“natural reading” of the statute, the court relied on the rule of construction “ ‘[w]here Congress
uses terms that have accumulated settled meaning under ... the common law, a court must infer,
unless the statute otherwise dictates, that Congress means to incorporate the established meaning
of these terms.’ ” Id. at 21.  At common law, the word “fraud” required proof of materiality. 
Because Congress did not indicate otherwise, the Court presumed that Congress intended to
incorporate “materiality.”



The definition of materiality is as follows: “In general, a false statement is material if it
has ‘a natural tendency to influence, or [is] capable of influencing, the decision of the decision
making body to which it was addressed.’” Id. at 16, quoting United States v. Gaudin, 515 U.S. at
509.

As to whether the fraud must be capable of deceiving persons based on a subjective
(“however gullible”) standard or an objective (“person of ordinary prudence”) standard, in most
cases the objective standard provided in paragraph (2)(D) of the instruction is appropriate.  The
Sixth Circuit has stated in the context of mail or wire fraud that the standard to be used is an
objective one.  See, e.g., United States v. Jamieson, 427 F.3d 394, 415-16 (6th Cir. 2005)(mail
fraud); Berendt v. Kemper Corp., 973 F.2d 1291, 1294 (6th Cir. 1992)(mail or wire fraud);
Blount Fin. Servs., Inc. v. Walter E. Heller and Co., 819 F.2d 151, 153 (6th Cir. 1987)(mail
fraud); and United States v. Van Dyke, 605 F.2d 220, 225 (6th Cir. 1979)(mail fraud).  In Frost,
supra, the court affirmed an instruction with an objective standard in the context of mail fraud,
but the issue of objective-vs.-subjective-standard was not raised.  Frost, 125 F.3d at 371
(affirming instruction which provided, “There must be proof of either a misrepresentation, false
statement, or omission calculated to deceive a person of ordinary prudence and
comprehension.”).  However, none of these cases involved vulnerable victims who were targeted
by the defendant specifically because of their vulnerability.  If this situation arises, the parties
should address whether the appropriate standard is objective or subjective based on the facts of
the case.

Outside the Sixth Circuit, there is a split of authority on this issue in the context of mail
and wire fraud.  In United States v. Brown, 79 F.3d 1550, 1557 (11th Cir. 1996), the court adopts
an objective standard while noting a circuit split on the question.  The court stated, “The ‘person
of ordinary prudence’ standard is an objective standard not directly tied to the experiences of a
specific person or persons.”  Id.    Accord, United States v. Cochran, 109 F.3d 660, 665 (10th Cir.
1997)(“The objective reference to ‘persons of ordinary prudence or comprehension’ assists in
determining whether the accused’s conduct was ‘calculated to deceive.’”)  In describing the
circuit split, the Eleventh Circuit in Brown cites two cases that hold that fraud can even be found
where only the “most gullible” person would be deceived.  Brown, 79 F.3d at 1557, citing U.S. v.
Brien, 617 F.2d 299, 311 (1st Cir. 1980); U.S. v. Maxwell, 920 F.2d 1028, 1036 (D.C. Cir.
1990).  The Eleventh Circuit further discusses the appropriate standard, without deciding the
question, in United States v. Yeager, 331 F.3d 1216, 1221-24 (11th Cir. 2003).  A law review
article summarizes the debate among the circuits and offers insights and solutions, see Zingale,
Fashioning a Victim Standard in Mail and Wire Fraud: Ordinarily Prudent Person or
Monumentally Credulous Gull?, 99 Colum. L. Rev. 795 (1999).  

Check kiting constitutes a “scheme to defraud” under the bank fraud statute.   United
States v. Stone, 954 F.2d 1187, 1190 (6th Cir. 1992).

The defendant need not benefit personally from the scheme to defraud the financial
institution.  United States v. Knipp, 963 F.2d 839, 846 (6th Cir. 1992).



The government need not prove that the financial institution suffered a loss.  Everett, 270
F.3d at 991.  The government need not prove that the defendant exposed the financial institution
to a risk of loss.  United States v. Hoglund, supra at 413.  Going one step further, the court has
held that to constitute bank fraud,

[T]he defendant need not have put the bank at risk of loss in the usual sense or intended
to do so.  It is sufficient if the defendant in the course of committing fraud on someone
causes a federally insured bank to transfer funds under its possession and control.
....
Thus, even if the [defendant] did not intend to defraud the bank, causing a bank to
transfer funds pursuant to a fraudulent scheme reduces the funds the bank has available
for its loans and other activities and almost inevitably causes it some loss.

Everett, 270 F.3d at 991 (emphasis in original).  See also Reaume, 338 F.3d at 581-82.



10.04  FRAUD – GOOD FAITH DEFENSE

(1)  The good faith of the defendant is a complete defense to the charge of
_____________ contained in [Count ___ of] the indictment because good faith on the part of the
defendant is, simply, inconsistent with an intent to defraud.

(2)  A person who acts, or causes another person to act, on a belief or an opinion honestly
held is not punishable under this statute merely because the belief or opinion turns out to be
inaccurate, incorrect, or wrong.  An honest mistake in judgment or an honest error in
management does not rise to the level of criminal conduct.

(3)  A defendant does not act in good faith if, even though he honestly holds a certain
opinion or belief, that defendant also knowingly makes false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promises to others.

(4)  While the term “good faith” has no precise definition, it encompasses, among other
things, a belief or opinion honestly held, an absence of malice or ill will, and an intention to
avoid taking unfair advantage of another.

(5) The burden of proving good faith does not rest with the defendant because the
defendant does not have any obligation to prove anything in this case.  It is the government’s
burden to prove to you, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the defendant acted with an intent to
defraud.

(6) If the evidence in this case leaves you with a reasonable doubt as to whether the
defendant acted with an intent to defraud or in good faith, you must acquit the defendant.

Use Note

Brackets indicate options for the court.

Committee Commentary Instruction 10.04
(current through December 31, 2007)

This instruction is based on Kevin F. O’Malley et al., Federal Jury Practice and
Instructions (5  ed. 2000), § 19.06 The Good Faith Defense – Explained.th

Several Sixth Circuit cases endorse instructions including good faith provisions.  See 
United States v. Frost, 125 F.3d 346, 372 (6  Cir. 1997)(endorsing an instruction that stated,th

inter alia, “good faith on the part of a defendant is inconsistent with an intent to defraud.”);
United States v. McGuire, 744 F.2d 1197, 1200-02 (6th Cir. 1984); United States v. Stull, 743



F.2d 439, 445-46 (6  Cir. 1984).th

 In Stull, 743 F.2d at 446, the court approved a good faith instruction that stated, inter
alia, “Good faith does not include the defendant’s belief or faith that the venture will eventually
meet his or her expectations.”  This provision can be added to the instruction if relevant in the
case.

The good faith instruction should be given if there is any evidence at all to support the
charge.  United States v. McGuire, 744 F.2d 1197, 1201 (6th Cir. 1984), quoting United States v.
Curry, 681 F.2d 406, 416 (5  Cir. 1982).th



Chapter 11.00

MONEY LAUNDERING OFFENSES

Introduction to Money Laundering Instructions
(current through December 31, 2007)

The main money laundering statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1956, defines the crime in three
subsections.  Subsection (a)(1) covers domestic financial transactions; subsection (a)(2) covers
international transportations; subsection (a)(3) covers undercover investigations.  Diagrams of
the three subsections appear in the appendix.

The instructions describe the crimes of § 1956 in five instructions.  Instructions 11.01 and
11.02 cover subsection (a)(1)(domestic financial transactions).  Instructions 11.03 and 11.04
cover subsection (a)(2)(international transportations).  Instruction 11.05 applies to subsection
(a)(3)(undercover investigations).

The Committee drafted two instructions for each of the first two subsections, (a)(1) and
(a)(2), mainly because of different mens rea options within each subsection. Under (a)(1),
Instructions 11.01 and 11.02 (which reflect subsections (a)(1)(A) and (a)(1)(B) respectively) are
similar; the only difference is in the mens rea element.  For (a)(1)(A), the mens rea is intent,
either to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity (characterized as “promotional
money laundering” in United States v. McGahee, 257 F.3d 520, 526 (6  Cir. 2001)) or to violateth

certain tax laws.   For (a)(1)(B), the mens rea is knowledge that the transaction was designed
either to conceal the proceeds of specified unlawful activity (characterized as “concealment
money laundering,” id.) or to avoid a reporting requirement.

Under § 1956(a)(2), Instructions 11.03 and 11.04 (which cover subsections (a)(2)(A) and
(a)(2)(B) respectively) again reflect differences in the two subsections.  The first difference is the
mens rea.  For (a)(2)(A), the mens rea is intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful
activity; for (a)(2)(B), the mens rea is knowing that the funds are proceeds of crime and knowing
that the transaction was designed either to conceal the proceeds of specified unlawful activity or
to avoid a reporting requirement.  A second possible difference between the two subsections is
less clear.  This difference between (a)(2)(A) and (a)(2)(B) is that subsection (a)(2)(B) arguably
requires that the funds involved be proceeds of unlawful activity whereas subsection (a)(2)(A)
clearly does not.  These distinctions are discussed in more detail in the commentaries to the
instructions.  

Section 1956(a)(3) is covered in Instruction 11.05.

The Committee also drafted Instruction 11.06 to cover the money laundering crime of
Engaging in Monetary Transactions in Property Derived from Specified Unlawful Activity (18
U.S.C. § 1957).



Chapter 11.00

MONEY LAUNDERING OFFENSES

Table of Instructions

Instruction
11.01  Domestic Financial Transaction (18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(A)(intent to promote the
carrying on of specified unlawful activity))
11.02  Domestic Financial Transaction (18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(B)(knowing the
transaction is designed to conceal facts related to proceeds))
11.03  International Transportation (18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(2)(A)(intent to promote the
carrying on of specified unlawful activity))
11.04  International Transportation (18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(2)(B)(knowing that the
transportation involves proceeds of some form of unlawful activity and that it is designed
to conceal facts related to proceeds))
11.05  Undercover Investigation (18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(3))
11.06  Engaging in Monetary Transactions in Property Derived from Specified Unlawful
Activity (18 U.S.C. § 1957)



11.01 MONEY LAUNDERING – Domestic Financial Transaction (18 U.S.C. §
1956(a)(1)(A)(intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity))

(1)  Count ___  of the indictment charges the defendant with [conducting] [attempting to
conduct] a financial transaction in violation of federal law.  For you to find the defendant guilty
of this crime, you must find that the government has proved each and every one of the following
elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

(A) First, that the defendant [conducted] [attempted to conduct] a financial transaction.

(B) Second, that the financial transaction involved property that represented the proceeds
of [insert the specified unlawful activity from § 1956(c)(7)].  

(C) Third, that the defendant knew that the property involved in the financial transaction
represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity.

(D) Fourth, that the defendant had the intent [to promote the carrying on of [insert the
specified unlawful activity from § 1956(c)(7)]] [to engage in conduct violating §§ 7201 or 7206
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986].

(2)  Now I will give you more detailed instructions on some of these terms.

(A)  The term “financial transaction” means [insert definition from § 1956(c)(4)].

(B)  [The term “financial institution” means [insert definition from 31 U.S.C. §
5312(a)(2) or the regulations promulgated thereunder]]. 

(C)  The word “conducts” includes initiating, concluding, or participating in initiating or
concluding a transaction.

(D)  The word “proceeds” includes what is produced by or derived from unlawful
activity.

(E)  The phrase “knew that the property involved in a financial transaction represents the
proceeds of some form of unlawful activity” means that the defendant knew the property
involved in the transaction represented the proceeds of some form, though not necessarily which
form, of activity that constitutes a felony under state or federal [foreign] law.  [The government
does not have to prove the defendant knew the property involved  represented proceeds of a
felony as long as he knew the property involved represented proceeds of some form of unlawful
activity.]

(3)  If you are convinced that the government has proved all of these elements, say so by
returning a guilty verdict on this charge.  If you have a reasonable doubt about any one of these
elements, then you must find the defendant not guilty of this charge.



Use Note

Brackets indicate options for the court.

The definition of financial institution in paragraph (2)(B) should be given only when a
financial institution is used to prove the presence of a financial transaction.

The final bracketed sentence in paragraph (2)(E) should be given only when 
the defendant raises as an issue whether he knew that the unlawful activity which generated the
proceeds was a felony or a misdemeanor.

Committee Commentary Instruction 11.01
(current through December 31, 2007)

 The purpose of this instruction is to outline the elements of the crime of money
laundering through a domestic financial transaction based on a mens rea of intent, which is
characterized as “promotional money laundering.”  United States v.  McGahee, 257 F.3d 520,
526 (6th Cir. 2001).  The intent can be either to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful
activity or to violate 26 U.S.C. §§ 7201 or 7206 of the tax code.  See generally 18 U.S.C. §
1956(a)(1).  Subsections (a)(1)(A) and (a)(1)(B) of § 1956 have been interpreted as alternative
means of committing the same offense.  United States v. Navarro, 145 F.3d 580, 592 (3d Cir.
1998).  See also United States v. Westine, 1994 WL 88831, 1994 U.S.App. LEXIS 5144 (6th Cir.
1994)(unpublished).  As such, the instructions for subsections (a)(1)(A) and (a)(1)(B) are similar;
the difference is in the mens rea element.  For (a)(1)(A), the mens rea is intent, either to promote
the carrying on of specified unlawful activity or to violate certain tax laws.  For (a)(1)(B), which
is covered in the next instruction, the mens rea is knowledge that the transaction is designed
either to conceal the proceeds of specified unlawful activity or to avoid a reporting requirement.

If the defendant is charged with intent to violate §§ 7201 or 7206 of the Internal Revenue
Code, 26 U.S.C. §§ 7201, 7206, a supplemental instruction on these provisions should be given.

Unlike the other significant terms, the term “proceeds” is not defined in the statute.  The
definition is from United States v. Haun, 90 F.3d 1096, 1101 (6th Cir. 1996).  The government
does not have to trace the origin of all the proceeds involved in the financial transactions to
determine precisely which proceeds were used for which transactions.  United States v.
Jamieson, 427 F.3d 394, 403-04 (6th Cir. 2005); United States v. Bencs, 28 F.3d 555, 562 (6th
Cir. 1994).  Also, the statute does not require that the entire property involved represent the
proceeds of specified unlawful activity.  United States v. Conner, 1991 WL 213756 at 4, 1991 
U.S. App. LEXIS 25370 at 10 (6th Cir. 1991)(unpublished).  As long as the jury can infer that a
portion of the funds involved represented the proceeds of the specified unlawful activity, there is
no minimum percentage requirement. Westine, 1994 WL at 2, 1994 U.S.App. LEXIS at 8.

It is an element of all crimes under subsection (a)(1) that the property involved in fact
represent the proceeds of specified unlawful activity.  See § 1956(a)(1).  However, the defendant



need only know that the property involved represents proceeds of some form of unlawful activity. 
The statute defines this mens rea in subsection (c)(1): “[T]he term ‘knowing that the property
involved in a financial transaction represents the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity’
means that the person knew the property involved in the transaction represented proceeds from
some form, though not necessarily which form, of activity that constitutes a felony under state,
Federal or foreign law, regardless of whether or not such activity is specified in paragraph (7) [as
specified unlawful activity].”  This definition of the mens rea makes clear that although the
property must actually represent proceeds of certain listed unlawful activities, the defendant need
not know this.  The government does not have to prove that the defendant knew the property
represented proceeds of a particular type of unlawful activity as long as the defendant knew it
represented proceeds of “some form of unlawful activity.”

The statute requires that the defendant know that the property involved in the financial
transaction represented the proceeds of  “some form of unlawful activity.”  The statutory
definition of this phrase is quoted supra.  Subsection (a)(1) “does not require the government to
prove that the defendant knew that the alleged unlawful activity was a felony..., as opposed to a
misdemeanor, so long as the defendant knew that the laundered proceeds were derived from
unlawful activity.”  United States v. Hill, 167 F.3d 1055, 1065 (6th Cir. 1999).  

Conviction under this subsection of § 1956 can be based on an intent to promote the
carrying on of specified unlawful activity.  Several Sixth Circuit cases have defined intent to
promote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity.  In United States v. McGahee, supra, the
court held that paying for personal goods, alone, was not sufficient to establish that the funds
were used to promote an illegal activity.  The court further stated that payment of the general
business expenditures of a business that is used to defraud is not sufficient to establish promotion
of the underlying crime; rather, the transaction “must be explicitly connected to the mechanism
of the crime.”  McGahee, 257 F.3d at 527, citing United States v. Brown, 186 F.3d 661, 669-70
(5th Cir. 1999).  See also Haun, 90 F.3d 1096 (evidence of promotion sufficient when checks for
proceeds of fraudulent car sales were cashed or deposited into company’s bank account); United
States v. Reed, 167 F.3d 984, 992-93 (6th Cir. 1999)(evidence of promotion sufficient when
money used to pay antecedent drug debt and ease payer/defendant’s position); United States v.
King, 169 F.3d 1035 (6th Cir. 1999) (evidence of promotion sufficient when proceeds used to
pay for drugs).

The presence of four options for proving mens rea under subsection (a)(1) has raised
unanimity issues.  The Sixth Circuit has not addressed the question of whether an augmented
unanimity instruction is required, but it has characterized subsections (a)(1)(A) and (a)(1)(B) as
alternative bases for a conviction either of which is sufficient.  Westine, 1994 WL at 2, 1994 U.S.
App. Lexis at 7.  Other circuits have found that a specific unanimity instruction is not required;
rather, a general unanimity instruction is sufficient.  These courts have concluded that the
alternative mental states of subsection (a)(1) do not constitute multiple crimes but rather separate
means of committing a single crime.  Navarro, 145 F.3d at 592 n.6, citing United States v.
Holmes, 44 F.3d 1150, 1155–56 (2d Cir. 1995) ((B)(i) and (B)(ii) are alternative improper
purposes for single crime under (a)(1)).  The Third Circuit reasoned that the fact that multiple
purposes could satisfy the end of money laundering did not mean that Congress intended to



create multiple offenses. Thus the absence of a specific unanimity instruction was not plain error. 
(This holding was limited in two ways: although a specific unanimity instruction was not given, a
general one was; and the court was reviewing only for plain error. Whether the court would
decide the same way without these two conditions is unclear.)  The Eighth Circuit has reached
the same conclusion, finding that subsections (A)(i) and (B)(i) are two mens rea options under
the one crime stated in (a)(1), so giving a general unanimity instruction rather than a specific one
was not error.  United States v. Nattier, 127 F.3d 655 (8th Cir. 1997).  These cases suggest that
giving Pattern Instruction 8.03 Unanimous Verdict is sufficient and that giving an augmented
unanimity instruction is not required in § 1956(a)(1) prosecutions involving multiple mental
states.  See also Instruction 8.03B Unanimity Not Required – Means.

Attempted money laundering is also a crime under § 1956.  If the crime of attempt is
charged, the instructions should be supplemented by the instructions in Chapter 5.00 on
Attempts.

The Committee recommends against giving an instruction recounting the statutory
language because it would be difficult for the jury to absorb.  See the 2005 Committee
Commentary to Instruction 2.02.



11.02 MONEY LAUNDERING – Domestic Financial Transaction (18 U.S.C. §
1956(a)(1)(B)(knowing the transaction is designed to conceal facts related to proceeds))

(1) Count _____ of the indictment charges the defendant with [conducting] [attempting to
conduct] a financial transaction in violation of federal law.  For you to find the defendant guilty
of this crime, you must find that the government has proved each and every one of the following
elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

(A) First, that the defendant [conducted] [attempted to conduct] a financial transaction.

(B) Second, that the financial transaction involved property that represented the proceeds
of [insert the specified unlawful activity from § 1956(c)(7)].  

(C) Third, that the defendant knew that the property involved in the financial transaction
represented the proceeds from some form of unlawful activity.
     

(D) Fourth, that the defendant knew that the transaction was designed in whole or in part
-- [to conceal or disguise the [nature] [location] [source] [ownership] [control] of

                the proceeds of [insert the specified unlawful activity from § 1956(c)(7)]]
-- [to avoid a transaction reporting requirement under state or federal law].

(2) Now I will give you more detailed instructions on some of these terms.

(A) The term “financial transaction” means [insert the definition from § 1956(c)(4)].

(B) [The term “financial institution” means [insert definition from 31 U.S.C. § 5312(a)(2)
or the regulations promulgated thereunder]]. 

 (C) The word “conducts” includes initiating, concluding, or participating in initiating or
concluding a transaction.

(D) The word “proceeds” includes what is produced by or derived from unlawful activity.

(E) The phrase “knew that the property involved in a financial transaction represents the
proceeds of some form of unlawful activity” means that the defendant knew the funds involved
in the transaction represented the proceeds of some form, though not necessarily which form, of
activity that constitutes a felony under state or federal [foreign] law.  [The government does not
have to prove the defendant knew the property involved  represented proceeds of a felony as long
as he knew the property involved  represented proceeds of some form of unlawful activity.]

(3)  If you are convinced that the government has proved all of these elements, say so by
returning a guilty verdict on this charge.  If you have a reasonable doubt about any one of these
elements, then you must find the defendant not guilty of this charge.



Use Note

Brackets indicate options for the court.

The definition of financial institution in paragraph (2)(B) should be given only when a
financial institution is used to prove the presence of a financial transaction.

The final bracketed sentence in paragraph (2)(E) should be given only when 
the defendant raises an issue on whether he knew that the unlawful activity which generated the
proceeds was a felony or misdemeanor.

Committee Commentary Instruction 11.02
(current through December 31, 2007)

The purpose of this instruction is to outline the elements of the crime of money
laundering through a domestic financial transaction based on a mens rea of knowledge that the
transaction is designed to conceal facts related to proceeds.  See generally § 1956(a)(1).  The
court has characterized this as “concealment money laundering,” see United States v. McGahee,
257 F.3d 520, 526 (6th Cir. 2001).  Subsections (a)(1)(A) and (a)(1)(B) of § 1956 have been
interpreted as alternative means of committing the same offense.  United States v. Navarro, 145
F.3d 580, 592 (3rd Cir. 1998).  See also United States v. Westine, 1994 WL 88831, 1994
U.S.App. LEXIS 5144 (6th Cir. 1994) (unpublished). As such, the instructions for subsections
(a)(1)(A) and (a)(1)(B) are similar; the difference is in the mens rea element.   For subsection
(a)(1)(A), covered in the preceding instruction, the statutory mens rea is intent to promote the
carrying on of specified unlawful activity.  For subsection (a)(1)(B), the statutory mens rea is
knowledge that the transaction has particular purposes.  The Sixth Circuit has acknowledged the
mens rea for subsection (a)(1)(B) as knowledge, see United States v. Moss, 9 F.3d 543, 551 (6th
Cir. 1993), but see United States v. Loehr, 966 F.2d 201, 204 (6th Cir. 1992)(mens rea for
(a)(1)(B) is intent) and United States v. Beddow, 957 F.2d 1130, 1134-35 (6th Cir. 1992)(same). 
The pattern instruction tracks the statutory language.

The term “financial transaction” is defined in subsection 1956(c)(4).  Some examples of
covered transactions include transactions at financial institutions (e.g., deposits, withdrawals,
check cashings); transfers of title to real estate, cars, boats and aircraft; and wire transfers.  The
Committee recommends that the court define financial transaction by quoting only the specific
portion of the definition involved in the case.

Unlike the other significant terms, the term “proceeds” is not defined in the statute.  The
definition is from United States v. Haun, 90 F.3d 1096, 1101 (6th Cir. 1996).  The government
does not have to trace the origin of all the proceeds involved in the financial transactions to
determine precisely which proceeds were used for which transactions.  United States v.
Jamieson, 427 F.3d 394, 403-04 (6th Cir. 2005); United States v. Bencs, 28 F.3d 555, 562 (6th
Cir. 1994).  Also, the statute does not require that the entire property involved represent the
proceeds of specified unlawful activity.  United States v. Conner, 1991 WL 213756 at 4, 1991 



U.S. App. LEXIS 25370 at 10 (6th Cir. 1991)(unpublished).  As long as the jury can infer that a
portion of the funds involved represented the proceeds of the specified unlawful activity, there is
no minimum percentage requirement.  United States v. Westine, 1994 WL 88831, 2, 1994
U.S.App. LEXIS 5144, 8 (6th Cir. 1994)(unpublished).

It is an element of all crimes under (a)(1) that the property involved in fact represent the
proceeds of specified unlawful activity.  See § 1956(a)(1).  However, the defendant need only
know that the property involved represents proceeds of some form of unlawful activity.  The
statute defines this mens rea in subsection (c)(1): “[T]he term ‘knowing that the property
involved in a financial transaction represents the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity’
means that the person knew the property involved in the transaction represented proceeds from
some form, though not necessarily which form, of activity that constitutes a felony under State,
Federal or foreign law, regardless of whether or not such activity is specified in paragraph (7) [as
specified unlawful activity].”  This definition of the mens rea makes clear that although the
property must actually represent proceeds of certain listed unlawful activities, the defendant need
not know this.  The government does not have to prove that the defendant knew the property
represented proceeds of a particular type of unlawful activity as long as the defendant knew it
represented proceeds of  “some form of unlawful activity.”

The statute requires that the defendant know that the property involved in the financial
transaction represented the proceeds of  “some form of unlawful activity.”  The statutory
definition of this phrase is quoted in the preceding paragraph.  Subsection (a)(1) “does not
require the government to prove that the defendant knew that the alleged unlawful activity was a
felony..., as opposed to a misdemeanor, so long as the defendant knew that the laundered
proceeds were derived from unlawful activity.”  United States v. Hill, 167 F.3d 1055, 1065 (6th
Cir. 1999).

Under § 1956(a)(1)(B), the government must prove that the defendant engaged in a
financial transaction in addition to the acquisition of the unlawful proceeds.  United States v.
Hamrick, 983 F.2d 1069 (6th Cir. 1992).  The financial transaction must go beyond the
defendant’s involvement in the underlying specified unlawful activity.  Id.   

Proof that the defendant knew that a transaction was designed to conceal or disguise facts
related to the proceeds requires the government to introduce more evidence than the simple fact
of a retail purchase using illegally obtained money.  United States v. Marshall, 248 F.3d 525, 538
(6th Cir. 2001).   The Sixth Circuit declined to infer evidence of a design to disguise proceeds
solely because the defendant bought items with investment value and the defendant bought items
from a pool of money derived from another illegal transaction.  Marshall, 248 F.3d at 539-41. 
The court commented, “We are also of the opinion that a few isolated purchases of wearable or
consumable items directly by the wrongdoer is not the type of money-laundering transaction that
Congress had in mind when it enacted § 1956(a)(1)(B)(i), especially where the value of the items 
is relatively small in relation to the amount stolen by the defendant.”  Id. at 541.  See also 
McGahee, 257 F.3d at 527-28.

The transaction reporting requirements under federal law referred to in paragraph (D) of



the instruction include at least the three reporting requirements of the Bank Secrecy Act, 31
U.S.C. §§ 5313, 5314, 5316 and the trade or business transaction reporting requirement under 26
U.S.C. § 6050I.  Of course, the statutory language, which refers only to “a transaction reporting
requirement under state or federal law,” may also include other reporting requirements.

The presence of four options for proving mens rea under subsection (a)(1) has raised
unanimity issues.  The Sixth Circuit has not addressed the question of whether an augmented
unanimity instruction is required, but it has characterized subsections (a)(1)(A) and (a)(1)(B) as
alternative bases for a conviction either of which is sufficient.  Westine, 1994 WL at 2, 1994 U.S.
App. LEXIS at 7.  Other circuits have found that a specific unanimity instruction is not required;
rather, a general unanimity instruction is sufficient.  These courts have concluded that the
alternative mens reas of subsection (a)(1) do not constitute multiple crimes but rather separate
means of committing a single crime.  Navarro, 145 F.3d at 592 n.6, citing United States v.
Holmes, 44 F.3d 1150, 1155–56 (2d Cir. 1995) ((B)(i) and (B)(ii) are alternative improper
purposes for single crime under (a)(1)).  The Third Circuit reasoned that the fact that multiple
purposes could satisfy the end of money laundering did not mean that Congress intended to
create multiple offenses. Thus the absence of a specific unanimity instruction was not plain error. 
(This holding was limited in two ways: although a specific unanimity instruction was not given, a
general one was; and the court was reviewing only for plain error. Whether the court would
decide the same way without these two conditions is unclear.)  The Eighth Circuit has reached
the same conclusion, finding that subsections (A)(i) and (B)(i) are two mens rea options under
the one crime stated in (a)(1), so giving a general unanimity instruction rather than a specific one
was not error.  United States v. Nattier, 127 F.3d 655 (8th Cir. 1997).  These cases suggest that
giving Pattern Instruction 8.03 Unanimous Verdict is sufficient and that giving an augmented
unanimity instruction is not required in § 1956(a)(1) prosecutions involving multiple mental
states.  See also Instruction 8.03B Unanimity Not Required – Means.



11.03  MONEY LAUNDERING – International Transportation (18 U.S.C. §
1956(a)(2)(A)(intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity))

(1)  Count ____ of the indictment charges the defendant with [attempting to]
[transport[ing]] [transmit[ting]] [transfer[ring]] a monetary instrument or funds in violation of
federal law.  For you to find the defendant guilty of this crime, you must find that the government
has proved each and every one of the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

(A) First, that the defendant [attempted to] [transport[ed]] [transmit[ted]] [transfer[red]] a
monetary instrument or funds.

(B) Second, that the defendant’s [attempted] [transportation] [transmission] [transfer] was
[from a place in the United States to or through a place outside the United States] [to a place in
the United States from or through a place outside the United States].

(C) Third, that the defendant’s [attempted] [transportation] [transmission] [transfer] of
the monetary instrument or funds was done with the intent to promote the carrying on of  [insert
the specified unlawful activity from § 1956(c)(7)].  

(2)  Now I will give you more detailed instructions on some of these terms.

(A)  The term “monetary instruments” means 
--[coin or currency of the United States, or of any other country]
--[travelers’ checks]
--[personal checks]
--[bank checks]
--[money orders]
--[investment securities or negotiable instruments, in bearer form or otherwise in such

form that title passes upon delivery].

(3)  If you are convinced that the government has proved all of these elements, say so by
returning a guilty verdict on this charge.  If you have a reasonable doubt about any one of these
elements, then you must find the defendant not guilty of this charge.

Use Note

Brackets indicate options for the court.

Committee Commentary Instruction 11.03
(current through December 31, 2007)

The purpose of this instruction is to outline the elements of the crime of money



laundering through international transportation of monetary instruments or funds with the intent
to promote specified unlawful activity as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(2)(A).  Subsection
(a)(2)(A) has two important characteristics.  First, it is based on a mens rea of intent to promote
the carrying on of specified unlawful activity, as contrasted with the other part of (a)(2) which is
based on a mens rea of knowledge.  Second, subsection (a)(2)(A) contains no requirement that
the funds be the proceeds of specified unlawful activity.  In other words, the monetary instrument
or funds need not be dirty; the money used by the defendant under this subsection can be from a
completely legitimate source.  It is how the money was used, not how it was generated, that
defines the defendant’s conduct as criminal.  See generally United States v. Hamilton, 931 F.2d
1046 (5  Cir. 1991); United States v. Piervinanzi, 23 F.3d 670 (2d Cir. 1994).   th

Subsection 1956(a)(2) can be prosecuted with either of two mental states, see subsections
(a)(2)(A)(intent) and (a)(2)(B)(knowing).  If unanimity is an issue, the court should refer to
Instruction 8.03 Unanimous Verdict and Instruction 8.03B Unanimity Not Required – Means.



11.04  MONEY LAUNDERING – International Transportation
(18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(2)(B)(knowing that the transportation involves proceeds of some form
of unlawful activity and that it is designed to conceal facts related to proceeds))

(1)  Count _____ of the indictment charges the defendant with [attempting to]
[transport[ing]] [transmit[ting]] [transfer[ring]] a monetary instrument or funds in violation of
federal law.  For you to find the defendant guilty of this crime, you must find that the government
has proved each and every one of the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

(A) First, that the defendant [attempted to] [transport[ed]] [transmit[ted]] [transfer[red]] a
monetary instrument or funds.

(B) Second, that the defendant’s [attempted] [transportation] [transmission] [transfer] was
[from a place in the United States to or through a place outside the United States] [to a place in
the United States from or through a place outside the United States].

(C) Third, that the defendant knew that the monetary instrument or funds involved in the
[transportation] [transmission] [transfer] represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful
activity.

(D) Fourth, that the defendant knew that the [transportation] [transmission] [transfer] was
designed in whole or in part

--[to conceal or disguise the [nature] [location] [source] [ownership] [control] of the
proceeds of [insert the specified unlawful activity from § 1956(c)(7)]]

 --[to avoid a transaction reporting requirement under state or federal law].

(2)  Now I will give you more detailed instructions on some of these terms.

(A)  The term “monetary instruments” means 
--[coin or currency of the United States, or of any other country]
--[travelers’ checks]
--[personal checks]
--[bank checks]
--[money orders]
--[investment securities or negotiable instruments, in bearer form or otherwise in such

form that title passes upon delivery].

(3)  If you are convinced that the government has proved all of these elements, say so by
returning a guilty verdict on this charge.  If you have a reasonable doubt about any one of these
elements, then you must find the defendant not guilty of this charge.

Use Note

Brackets indicate options for the court.



Committee Commentary Instruction 11.04
(current through December 31, 2007)

The purpose of this instruction is to outline the elements of the crime of money
laundering through international transportation of monetary instruments or funds based on a
mens rea of knowledge.   Subsection (a)(2)(B) requires that the defendant have two types of
knowledge.  First, the defendant must know that the instruments or funds represent the proceeds
of some form of unlawful activity.  Second, the defendant must know that the transportation,
transmission or transfer was designed in whole or in part either (i) to conceal or disguise the
nature, location, source, ownership or control of the proceeds of specified unlawful activity, or
(ii) to avoid a transaction reporting requirement.

Subsection 1956(a)(2) can be prosecuted with either of two mental states, see subsections
(a)(2)(A)(intent) and (a)(2)(B)(knowing).  If unanimity is an issue, the court should refer to
Instruction 8.03 Unanimous Verdict and Instruction 8.03B Unanimity Not Required – Means.



11.05  MONEY LAUNDERING –Undercover Investigation (18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(3))

(1)  Count ____ of the indictment charges the defendant with [conducting] [attempting to
conduct] a financial transaction in violation of federal law.  For you to find the defendant guilty
of this crime, you must find that the government has proved each and every one of the following
elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

(A) First, that the defendant [conducted] [attempted to conduct] a financial transaction.

(B) Second, that the property involved in the financial transaction was represented to be
[the proceeds of  [insert the specified unlawful activity from § 1956(c)(7)]] [property used to
conduct or facilitate [insert the specified unlawful activity from § 1956(c)(7)]].

(C) Third, that the defendant had the intent

 [to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity]

 [to conceal or disguise the [nature] [location] [source] [ownership] [control] of property
believed to be the proceeds of specified unlawful activity]

[to avoid a transaction reporting requirement under state or federal [or foreign] law].

(2)  Now I will give you more detailed instructions on some of these terms.

(A)  The term “financial transaction” means [insert definition from § 1956(c)(4)].

(B)  [The term “financial institution” means [insert definition from 31 U.S.C. §
5312(a)(2) or the regulations promulgated thereunder]]. 

(C)  The word “conducts” includes initiating, concluding, or participating in initiating or
concluding a transaction.

(D)  The word “proceeds” includes what is produced by or derived from unlawful
activity.

(3)  If you are convinced that the government has proved all of these elements, say so by
returning a guilty verdict on this charge.  If you have a reasonable doubt about any one of these
elements, then you must find the defendant not guilty of this charge.

Use Note

Brackets indicate options for the court.

The definition of financial institution in paragraph (2)(B) should be given only when a



financial institution is used to prove the presence of a financial transaction.

Committee Commentary Instruction 11.05
(current through December 31, 2007)

The purpose of this instruction is to outline the elements of the crime of money
laundering through a government undercover investigation as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(3). 
Subsection (a)(3) combines parts of subsections (a)(1)(A) and (a)(1)(B).  One difference in
subsection (a)(3) is that the property involved need only be “represented” to be the proceeds of
the specified unlawful activity.  The funds used by law enforcement officials to pursue the
undercover investigation need not be unlawfully generated.  It is only necessary that the
defendant “believed” the funds to be the proceeds of other crimes.  United States v. Palazzolo,
1995 WL 764416 at 4, 1995 U.S. App. LEXIS 36853 at 10-11 (6th Cir. 1995)(unpublished).  The
representations made by law enforcement officials must relate to the specified unlawful activity. 
United States v. Loehr, 966 F.2d 201, 204 (6th Cir. 1992).

A second difference between § 1956(a)(3) and (a)(1) is that subsection (a)(3) requires a
mens rea of intent whereas some parts of subsection (a)(1) allow the lesser mens rea of knowing. 
See subsection (a)(1)(B).  Congress intended this difference to “fine tune” the sting provision.
See 134 Cong. Rec. § S17,365 (daily ed. Nov. 10, 1988).

The involvement of a financial institution may be used to establish the presence of a
financial transaction.  See § 1956(c)(4).  The term “financial institution” is defined in §
1956(c)(6) by reference to 31 U.S.C. § 5312 (a)(2) or the regulations thereunder.

Unlike the other significant terms, the term “proceeds” is not defined in the statute.  The
definition is from United States v. Haun, 90 F.3d 1096, 1101 (6th Cir. 1996).  The government
does not have to trace the origin of all the proceeds involved in the financial transactions to
determine precisely which proceeds were used for which transactions.  United States v.
Jamieson, 427 F.3d 394, 403-04 (6th Cir. 2005); United States v. Bencs, 28 F.3d 555, 562 (6th
Cir. 1994).  Also, the statute does not require that the entire property involved represent the
proceeds of specified unlawful activity.  United States v. Conner, 1991 WL 213756 at 4, 1991 
U.S. App. LEXIS 25370 at 10 (6th Cir. 1991)(unpublished).  As long as the jury can infer that a
portion of the funds involved represented the proceeds of the specified unlawful activity, there is
no minimum percentage requirement.  United States v. Westine, 1994 WL 88831, 2, 1994
U.S.App. LEXIS 5144, 8 (6th Cir. 1994)(unpublished).



11.06 MONEY LAUNDERING –  Engaging in Monetary Transactions in Property Derived
from Specified Unlawful Activity (18 U.S.C. § 1957)

(1)  Count ___  of the indictment charges the defendant with [engaging] [attempting to
engage]  in a monetary transaction in violation of federal law.  For you to find the defendant
guilty of this crime, you must find that the government has proved each and every one of the
following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

(A) First, that the defendant knowingly [engaged] [attempted to engage] in a monetary
transaction.

(B) Second, that the monetary transaction was in property derived from
            specified unlawful activity.

(C) Third, that the property had a value greater than $10,000.

(D) Fourth, that the defendant knew that the transaction was in criminally derived
property.

(E) Fifth, that the monetary transaction took place [within the United States] [within the
United States’ jurisdiction] [outside the United States but the defendant is a United States
person].

(2)  Now I will give you more detailed instructions on some of these terms.

(A)  The term “monetary transaction” means [insert definition from § 1957(f)(1)].

(B)  The term “specified unlawful activity” means [insert definition from §           
1956(c)(7)].

(C)  The term “criminally derived property” means any property constituting, or derived
from, proceeds obtained from a criminal offense. 

(D)  [The term “United States person” includes [insert definition from 18 U.S.C. § 3077]].

(3)  If you are convinced that the government has proved all of these elements, say so by
returning a guilty verdict on this charge.  If you have a reasonable doubt about any one of these
elements, then you must find the defendant not guilty of this charge.

Use Note

Brackets indicate options for the court.



Committee Commentary Instruction 11.06
(current through December 31, 2007)

The purpose of this instruction is to outline the elements of the crime of engaging in
monetary transactions in property derived from specified unlawful activity. The instruction is
based primarily on United States v. Rayborn, 491 F.3d 513, 517 (6th Cir. 2007).

The term “specified unlawful activity” is defined in § 1957(f)(3) by reference to §
1956(c)(7).

The term “criminally derived property” is defined in § 1957(f)(2).

It is an element that the property in the monetary transaction must in fact be the proceeds
of specified unlawful activity.  See § 1957(a).  However, the defendant need only know that the
property involved was criminally derived.   The statute makes this clear in § 1957(c), which
states: “In a prosecution for an offense under this section, the Government is not required to
prove the defendant knew that the offense from which the criminally derived property was
derived was specified unlawful activity.”  Thus, although the property must in fact be derived
from the certain listed crimes constituting specified unlawful activity, the defendant need not
know this.  The government does not have to prove that the defendant knew the property was
derived from a particular type of unlawful activity as long as the government proves that
defendant knew it was criminally derived.

In order for property to qualify as criminally derived under § 1957, the underlying
criminal activity must have been completed and the defendant must have obtained or controlled
the tainted funds.  The court explained, "[B]oth the plain language of § 1957 and the legislative
history behind it suggest that Congress targeted only those transactions occurring after the
proceeds have been obtained from the underlying unlawful activity."  United States v. Rayborn,
491 F.3d 513, 517 (6th Cir. 2007), quoting United States v. Butler, 211 F.3d 826, 829 (4th Cir.
2000).  To meet this element, the funds need not be in the defendant's physical possession or in a
personal bank account, as long as he exercised control over the funds.  Rayborn, supra at 517-18. 
This element was established in Rayborn when the defendant signed documents directing a bank
to transfer the funds to another agent.  See also United States v. Griffith, 17 F.3d 865, 878-79
(6th Cir. 1994) (affirming defendant’s § 1957 conviction because he was in control of the
criminally derived property before he engaged in the illegal monetary transaction).

Jurisdiction for § 1957 is based on the monetary transaction affecting interstate or foreign
commerce.  See § 1957(f)(1).  The government need show only a de minimus effect upon
commerce; this standard for § 1957 was not affected by United States v. Lopez, 514 U.S. 549
(1995).  United States v. Ables, 167 F.3d 1021, 1029-30 (6th Cir. 1999).  However, “the
government still must prove that the transaction involved had at least some impact on interstate
commerce.”  United States v. Peterson, 1999 WL 685917, 10, 1999 U.S. App. LEXIS 20336, 28
(6th Cir. 1999)(unpublished)(convictions reversed because no participation in or effect on
commerce). 



Attempted money laundering is also a crime under § 1957.  If the crime of attempt is
charged, the instructions should be supplemented by the instructions in Chapter 5.00 on
Attempts.

The Committee recommends against giving an instruction recounting the statutory
language because it would be difficult for the jury to absorb.  See the 2005 Committee
Commentary to Instruction 2.02.



Chapter 12.00

FIREARMS OFFENSES

Introduction to Firearms Instructions
(current through December 31, 2007)

This chapter includes instructions for the firearms crimes of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1) 
(Possession of Firearm by Convicted Felon) and 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1)(A)(i) (Using or Carrying
a Firearm During and in Relation to A Crime of Violence or Drug Trafficking Crime; Possessing
a Firearm in Furtherance of A Crime of Violence or Drug Trafficking Crime).

Title 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1) provides:

(g) It shall be unlawful for any person--
(1) who has been convicted in any court of, a crime punishable by imprisonment

for a term exceeding one year;
. . . .
to ship or transport in interstate or foreign commerce, or possess in or affecting
commerce, any firearm or ammunition; or to receive any firearm or ammunition which
has been shipped or transported in interstate or foreign commerce.

The Committee drafted Instruction 12.01 to cover the offense of  possessing a firearm
because it is the conduct most frequently prosecuted.  If the conduct charged is shipping or
transporting a firearm or receiving a firearm, the instruction should be modified.

Instruction 12.01 covers only subsection 922(g)(1).  Subsections (g)(2) through (g)(9)
establish other disabilities affecting firearms.   If one of these other disabilities is involved, the
instruction can be modified. 

Title 18 U.S.C. § 924(c) provides:

(c) (1) (A) ... [A]ny person who, during and in relation to any crime of violence or drug
trafficking crime ... for which the person may be prosecuted in a court of the United
States, uses or carries a firearm, or who, in furtherance of any such crime, possesses a
firearm, shall [be sentenced to the mandatory terms provided in the statute].

The Committee drafted two instructions to cover the offenses of 18 U.S.C. § 924(c) based
on United States v. Combs, 369 F.3d 925 (6  Cir. 2004).  Instruction 12.02 covers using orth

carrying a firearm during and in relation to a crime of violence or drug trafficking crime under
subsection (c)(1)(A)(i), and Instruction 12.03 covers possessing a firearm in furtherance of a
crime of violence or drug trafficking crime under the same subsection, (c)(1)(A)(i). 

The Committee did not draft instructions specifically to cover subsections
(c)(1)(A)(ii)(brandishing a firearm) or (c)(1)(A)(iii)(discharging a firearm), but the pattern



instructions can be easily modified to fit these provisions. 
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FIREARMS OFFENSES
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12.01 FIREARMS – Possession of Firearm by Convicted Felon (18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1))

(1) Count ___ of the indictment charges the defendant with violating federal law by being
a convicted felon in possession of a firearm.

For you to find the defendant guilty of this crime, you must find that the government has
proved each and every one of the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

(A)  First:  That the defendant has been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment
for more than one year. [The government and the defendant have agreed that defendant has
previously been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for more than one year.]

(B)   Second:  That the defendant, following his conviction, knowingly possessed a
firearm specified in the indictment. 

(C) Third:  That the specified firearm crossed a state line prior to [during] the alleged
possession.  [It is sufficient for this element to show that the firearm was manufactured in a state
other than [name state in which offense occurred].]

(2) Now I will give you more detailed instructions on some of these elements.

(A) The term “possession” means [insert applicable definition from Instructions 2.10,
2.10A and 2.11]. [The defendant does not have to own the firearm in order to possess the
firearm.]

(B)  The term “firearm” means any weapon which will or is designed to or may readily be
converted to expel a projectile by the action of an explosive. [The term firearm also means the
frame or receiver of any such weapon, any firearm muffler or firearm silencer, any ammunition
or any destructive device.] [The term firearm does not include an antique firearm.] [The term
firearm includes starter guns.]

(C) The term “knowingly” means voluntarily and intentionally, and not because of
mistake or accident.

(3)  If you are convinced that the government has proved all of these elements, say so by
returning a guilty verdict on this charge.  If you have a reasonable doubt about any one of these
elements, then you must find the defendant not guilty of this charge.

Use Note

This instruction covers only the conduct of possession; if the prosecution is based on the
conduct of shipping, transporting or receiving a firearm or ammunition, the instruction should be
modified.

This instruction refers only to firearms; if the prosecution is based on possession of
ammunition, the instruction should be modified.



This instruction covers only subsection 922(g)(1).  Subsections (g)(2) through (g)(9)
establish other disabilities affecting firearms.   If one of these other disabilities is involved, the
instruction can be modified. 

Brackets indicate options for the court.

In paragraph (2)(A), the second bracketed sentence should be used only if relevant.

In paragraph (2)(B), the bracketed options should be used only if relevant.

Committee Commentary Instruction 12.01
(current through December 31, 2007)

The language of § 922(g)(1) relating to the conduct of possession provides, “It shall be
unlawful for any person ... who has been convicted in any court of a crime punishable by
imprisonment for a term exceeding one year ... to ... possess in or affecting commerce, any
firearm or ammunition; ....”

A panel of the court has stated that Instruction 12.01 "properly reflect[s] the law of the
Sixth Circuit. . . ."  United States v. Holloway, 2007 U.S. App. LEXIS 29075, 2007 WL 4395579
at 5 (6th Cir. 2007) (unpublished).

The Sixth Circuit has characterized this offense as having three elements.  See, e.g.,
United States v. Daniel, 134 F.3d 1259, 1263 (6th Cir. 1998).  These elements are (1) the
defendant was convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for more than one year; (2)
following his conviction, the defendant knowingly possessed the firearm specified in the
indictment; and (3) the possession was in or affecting interstate commerce.  See also United
States v. Kincaide, 145 F.3d 771, 782 (6th Cir. 1998) (characterizing the three elements as “(1)
that the defendant had a previous felony conviction, (2) that the defendant possessed a firearm,
and (3) that the firearm had traveled in or affected interstate commerce.”) (quoting United States
v. Moreno, 933 F.3d 362, 372 n.1 (6th Cir. 1991)).

As to the element that the defendant have a conviction for a crime punishable by
imprisonment for a term exceeding one year, § 921(a)(20) provides that a “crime punishable for a
term exceeding one year” does not include any Federal or State offenses pertaining to antitrust
violations, unfair trade practices, restraints of trade, or other similar offenses relating to the
regulations of business practices, or any State offense classified by the laws of the State as a
misdemeanor and punishable by a term of imprisonment of two years or less.  The laws of the
jurisdiction in which the proceedings are held determine what constitutes a conviction.  The
phrase in § 922(g)(1) “convicted in any court” refers only to domestic, not foreign, courts, Small
v. United States, 544 U.S. 385 (2005), so the element in paragraph (1)(A) that the defendant be
convicted of a crime includes only domestic convictions.

Section 921(a)(20) further provides,  “Any conviction which has been expunged, or set
aside or for which a person has been pardoned or has had civil rights restored shall not be
considered a conviction for purposes of this chapter, unless such pardon, expungement, or



restoration of civil rights expressly provides that the person may not ship, transport, possess, or
receive firearms.”  This restoration of rights provision is a difficult area that has generated many
opinions.  See, e.g, United States v. Cassidy, 899 F.2d 543 (6th Cir.1990); United States v.
Driscoll, 970 F.2d 1472 (6th Cir. 1992); United States v. Gilliam, 979 F.2d 436 (6th Cir. 1992);
United States v. Morgan, 216 F.3d 557 (6th Cir. 2000).  The meaning of this restoration of rights
provision is a question of law, so it is not implicated in the instruction, but it is an area of caution
for the district judge.

When a defendant offers to concede a prior judgment, and the name or nature of the prior
crime raises the risk of a verdict tainted by improper considerations and the purpose of the
evidence is solely to prove the element of prior conviction, the court should use the bracketed
language in paragraph (1)(A).  Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172 (1997).

In paragraph (2)(A), possession is defined by reference to Instructions 2.10, 2.10A and
2.11.  For convictions under § 922(g)(1), both actual and constructive possession are sufficient. 
United States v. Murphy, 107 F.3d 1199, 1208 (6th Cir. 1997), citing United States v. Craven,
478 F.2d 1329, 1329-33 (6th Cir. 1973).  Actual possession occurs when a party has “immediate
possession or control” over the firearm.  Craven, 478 F.2d at 1333; see also United States v.
Beverly, 750 F.2d 34, 37 (6th Cir. 1984).  Constructive possession exists when “a person does
not have actual possession but instead knowingly has the power and the intention at a given time
to exercise dominion and control over an object, either directly or through others.”  Moreno, 933
F.2d at 373, citing Craven, 478 F.2d at 1333.  Constructive possession also exists when the
person has dominion over the premises where the firearm is located.  United States v. Clemis, 11
F.3d 597, 601 (6th Cir. 1993).  Actual and constructive possession are discussed further in
commentary to Pattern Instructions 2.10 and 2.10A.

Aside from possession, § 922(g)(1) also prohibits persons from receiving or shipping or
transporting firearms.  The instruction is drafted only to cover possession, but if receipt, shipping
or transporting are charged, the instruction can be modified.  In United States v. Manni, 810 F.2d
80, 84 (6th Cir. 1987), the court stated that the term receipt included any knowing acceptance or
possession of a firearm.  Proof of possession is equivalent to proof of receipt for most purposes. 
See also Beverly, 750 F.2d at 36 (“To prove ‘receipt’ beyond a reasonable doubt, the government
may establish ‘receipt’ by inference after proving constructive possession.”).  The Sixth Circuit
has “equated circumstantial proof of constructive possession with circumstantial proof of
constructive receipt under § 922.”  Id., citing Craven, 478 F.2d at 1336.

The definition of “firearm” in paragraph (2)(B) is based on the statute, which defines
firearm as:  “(A) any weapon (including a starter gun) which will or is designed to or may readily
be converted to expel a projectile by the action of an explosive; (B) the frame or receiver of any
such  weapon; (C) any firearm muffler or firearm silencer, or (D) any destructive device.  Such
term does not include an antique firearm.”   18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(3).   Subsection 921(a)(4) defines
destructive device in detail, and subsection 921(a)(16) defines antique firearm in detail.  As to
the antique firearms exception, see United States v. Smith, 981 F.2d 887, 891-92 (6th
Cir.1992)(“antique firearms” exception is an affirmative defense which must be raised by
defendant before the burden shifts to the government to disprove its applicability). 

The firearm need not be operable to support a conviction.  United States v. Yannott, 42



F.3d 999, 1006 (6th Cir. 1994).  In Yannott, the court further held that it does not matter that the
defendant may not have known how to alter the weapon to make it operable.   The broken firing
pin only temporarily altered the weapon’s capability and did not alter the design so that it no
longer served the purpose for which it was originally designed.  The determination of what
constitutes a firearm under the statute is a question of law; however, whether a particular weapon
fits in the legal definition of a firearm is a question of fact.  Id. at 1005-07.

Section 922(g)(1) also prohibits the possession of ammunition by a convicted felon.  See
18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1); United States v. Johnson, 62 F.3d 849, 850 (6th Cir. 1995). 

The mens rea requirement for § 922(g)(1) is set forth in § 924(a)(2), which states,
“Whoever knowingly violates subsection (a)(6), (d), (g), (h), (i), (j), or (o) of section 922 shall be
fined as provided in this title, imprisoned not more than 10 years, or both.”  In United States v.
Odom, 13 F.3d 949 (6th Cir. 1994), the Sixth Circuit approved an instruction defining knowingly
under § 922(g)(1) as “voluntarily and intentionally, and not because of mistake or accident.”  Id.
at 961.  The definition of knowingly in paragraph (2)(C) is based on this case.

The mens rea of knowingly applies to the possession of the firearm; it does not require
that the defendant knew the conduct was illegal.  United States v. Beavers, 206 F.3d 706, 708
(6th Cir. 2000)(“In an analogous context, other circuits have held that the term ‘knowingly’ only
requires that the accused know that he possessed a firearm, not that he knew that such possession
was illegal.”), citing United States v. Bostic, 168 F.3d 718, 722-23 (4th Cir. 1999) and United
States v. Capps, 77 F.3d 350, 352 (10th Cir. 1996). 

The court has sometimes discussed the mens rea in terms of intent.  Only general intent,
not specific intent, is required for a firearms possession charge under § 922(g)(1).  United States
v. Jobson, 102 F.3d 214, 221 (6th Cir. 1996). 

As to the third element, jurisdiction, the statute provides that the defendant must possess
the firearm “in or affecting commerce....”   18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1).  The statute defines “interstate
or foreign commerce” to include “commerce between any place in a State and any place outside
of that State, or within any possession of the United States (not including the Canal Zone) or the
District of Columbia, but such term does not include commerce between places within the same
State but through any place outside of that State.”   18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(2).

In Scarborough v. United States, 431 U.S. 563, 566-67 (1977), the Court interpreted  the
phrase “in commerce or affecting commerce” in 18 U.S.C.App. § 1202(a), a predecessor statute
of § 922(g)(1).  It approved an instruction which provided that jurisdiction was established by
proof that the firearm “previously traveled in interstate commerce.”   Id.  In the wake of
Scarborough, the court has concluded that the commerce element is met if the defendant
possessed the firearm outside its state of manufacture.  See, e.g., United States v. Pedigo, 879
F.2d 1315, 1319 (6th Cir. 1989), citing Scarborough v. United States, supra.   See also United
States v. Fish, 928 F.2d 185, 186 (6th Cir. 1991).  A firearm that has moved in interstate
commerce at any time provides a sufficient nexus between defendant’s conduct and interstate
commerce.  United States v. Chesney, 86 F.3d 564, 571 (6th Cir. 1996), citing Scarborough, 431
U.S. at 566-67.  See also United States v. Wolak, 923 F.2d 1193, 1198 (6th Cir. 1991)(even if
firearm possessed by defendant had been brought into country by serviceman, that transportation



would still satisfy the interstate commerce nexus offense as to anyone who later possessed the
weapon).  Cf. United States v. Lopez, 514 U.S. 549 (1995) (18 U.S.C. § 922(q) prohibiting
possession of firearm in school zone contains no requirement that the possession be connected in
any way to interstate commerce, so the statute exceeds the authority of Congress and is
unconstitutional).

The instruction reflects this case law by requiring for the third element that the specified
firearm at some time crossed state lines.  If a particular case involves possession of a firearm that
did not travel in interstate commerce but in some other way “affected” commerce, the instruction
should be modified.

The court has held that “the particular firearm possessed is not an element of the crime
under § 922(g), but instead the means used to satisfy the element of ‘any firearm.’” United States
v. DeJohn, 368 F.3d 533, 542 (6th Cir. 2004).  See also reference to DeJohn in 2005
Commentary to Instruction 8.03B Unanimity Not Required – Means.

In 1990, the Sixth Circuit held that a defense of justification for possession of a firearm
by a convicted felon may arise in rare situations.  United States v. Singleton, 902 F.2d 471, 472-
73 (6th Cir. 1990).  This defense is covered in Instruction 6.07 Justification.  See also Instruction
6.05 Coercion/Duress.



12.02 FIREARMS – Using or Carrying a Firearm During and in Relation to a Crime of
Violence or Drug Trafficking Crime (18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1)(A)(i))

(1) Count  ___ of the indictment charges the defendant with violating federal law by
using or carrying a firearm during and in relation to a crime of violence or a drug trafficking
crime.

For you to find the defendant guilty of this crime, you must find that the government has
proved each and every one of the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

(A) First: That the defendant committed the crime charged in Count ___.   ___________
is a [crime of violence] [drug trafficking crime] which may be prosecuted in a court of the United
States.

(B) Second: That the defendant knowingly used or carried a firearm.

(C) Third: That the use or carrying of the firearm was during and in relation to the crime
charged in Count ____.

(2) Now I will give you more detailed instructions on some of these terms.

(A) To establish “use,” the government must prove active employment of the firearm
during and in relation to the crime charged in Count ____ .  “Active employment” means
activities such as brandishing, displaying, bartering, striking with, and most obviously, firing or
attempting to fire, a firearm. “Use” also includes a person’s reference to a firearm in his
possession for the purpose of helping to commit the crime charged in Count ____.  “Use”
requires more than mere possession or storage.  [The term "use" includes receiving drugs in
exchange for giving a firearm.]  [The term "use" does not include receiving a firearm in exchange
for giving drugs.]

(B) “Carrying” a firearm includes carrying it on or about one’s person. [“Carrying” also
includes knowingly possessing and conveying a firearm in a vehicle which the person
accompanies including in the glove compartment or trunk.]

(C)  The term “firearm” means any weapon which will or is designed to or may readily be
converted to expel a projectile by the action of an explosive. [The term "firearm" also includes
the frame or receiver of any such weapon, and any firearm muffler or firearm silencer, and any
destructive device.]  [The term firearm does not include an antique firearm.] [The term firearm
includes starter guns.][The firearm need not be loaded.]

(D) The term “during and in relation to” means that the firearm must have some purpose
or effect with respect to the crime charged in Count ____; in other words, the firearm must
facilitate or further, or have the potential of facilitating or furthering the crime charged in Count
___, and its presence or involvement cannot be the result of accident or coincidence.

(E) The term “knowingly” means voluntarily and intentionally, and not because of
mistake or accident.



(3) If you are convinced that the government has proved all of these elements, say so by
returning a guilty verdict on this charge.  If you have a reasonable doubt about any of these
elements, then you must find the defendant not guilty of this charge.

Use Note

Brackets indicate options for the judge.

In paragraph (2)(B), the bracketed sentence should be used only if relevant.

In paragraph (2)(C), the four bracketed sentences should be used only if relevant.

Committee Commentary Instruction 12.02
(current through December 31, 2007)

Title 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1)(A) provides that “any person who, during and in relation to
any crime of violence or drug trafficking crime ... for which the person may be prosecuted in a
court of the United States, uses or carries a firearm, or who, in furtherance of any such crime,
possesses a firearm, shall [be sentenced to the mandatory terms provided in the statute].”

This instruction is designed to cover the use-or-carry-during-and-in-relation-to offense in 
subsection (c)(1)(A)(i).  The possession-in-furtherance offense from the same subsection is
covered infra in a separate instruction.

This instruction assumes that the defendant is charged in the same indictment with both
the predicate crime of violence or drug trafficking crime and the § 924(c) firearms crime, and
that the evidence of both is sufficient.  The Committee took this approach because the underlying
crime and the firearms crime are usually charged in the same indictment.  But the law does not
require the two offenses to be charged together; indeed, the predicate crime may not ever be
charged.  See United States v. Smith, 182 F.3d 452, 457 (6th Cir. 1999) (§ 924 (c) “does not even
require that the [predicate] crime be charged; a fortiori, it does not require that [the defendant] be
convicted.”).  So if the § 924(c) firearms count is charged separately, the instruction should be
modified.

This instruction assumes that the defendant is charged with both using and carrying a
firearm.  If the defendant is charged with both, sufficient evidence under either element will
sustain a § 924(c) conviction.  United States v. Layne, 192 F.3d 556, 569 (6  Cir. 1999), citingth

Fair v. United States, 157 F.3d 427, 430 (6th Cir. 1998).  

The definition of “use” in paragraph (2)(A) is derived from Bailey v. United States, 516
U.S. 137 (1995) and United States v. Combs, 369 F.3d 925, 932 (6th Cir. 2004)(quoting Bailey’s
definition of use).  In Bailey, the Court held that under § 924(c)(1), use of a firearm requires
more than mere possession of the firearm.  The correct definition of use “requires evidence
sufficient to show an active employment of the firearm by the defendant, a use that makes the
firearm an operative factor in relation to the predicate offense.” Bailey, 516 U.S. at 143.  The



Court explained further:

To illustrate the activities that fall within the definition of “use” provided here, we briefly
describe some of the activities that fall within “active employment” for a firearm, and
those that do not.

The active-employment understanding of “use” certainly includes brandishing,
displaying, bartering, striking with, and most obviously, firing or attempting to fire, a
firearm. ... [E]ven an offender’s reference to a firearm in his possession could satisfy §
924(c)(1).  Thus, a reference to a firearm calculated to bring about a change in the
circumstances of the predicate offense is a “use,” just as the silent but obvious and
forceful presence of a gun on a table can be a “use.”

...“[U]se” takes on different meanings depending on context. ... [M]ere possession of a
firearm by a drug offender, at or near the site of a drug crime or its proceeds or
paraphernalia, is [not sufficient]. ... [T]he inert presence of a firearm, without more, is not
enough to trigger § 924(c)(1).  Perhaps the nonactive nature of this asserted “use” is
clearer if a synonym is used:  storage.  A defendant cannot be charged under § 924(c)(1)
merely for storing a weapon near drugs or drug proceeds.  Storage of a firearm, without
its more active employment, is not reasonably distinguishable from possession.

A possibly more difficult question arises where an offender conceals a gun nearby to be at
the ready for an imminent confrontation [citation omitted]. ... In our view, “use” cannot
extend to encompass this action.  If the gun is not disclosed or mentioned by the offender,
it is not actively employed, and it is not “used.” ...   Placement for later active use does
not constitute “use.”

Bailey, 516 U.S. at 148-49.

The bracketed sentence at the end of paragraph (2)(A) stating that "use" does not include
receiving a firearm in exchange for giving drugs is based on Watson v. United States, 128 S. Ct.
579 (2007).  In explaining why use of a firearm during and in relation to a drug trafficking crime
is not met when a defendant receives a firearm in exchange for giving drugs, the Court
reaffirmed its conclusion in Smith v. United States, 508 U.S. 223 (1993) that use is established in
the converse situation, i.e., when a defendant receives drugs in exchange for giving firearms.

In the aftermath of Bailey, the Sixth Circuit has interpreted use under § 924(c)(1) to be
established in the following circumstances:  reaching for a gun under a mattress, United States v.
Anderson, 89 F.3d 1306, 1315 (6th Cir. 1996); orally referring to a gun in such a way as to
influence others, Darnell v. United States, 1999 WL 1281773 at 2, 1999 U.S. App. LEXIS 34587
at 7 (6th Cir. 1999)(unpublished), quoting United States v. Anderson, supra; admitting in plea
agreement that defendant used a gun to protect himself while selling cocaine, United States v.
Mitchell, 1997 WL 720435 at 2, 1997 U.S. App. LEXIS 32348 at 7 (6th Cir. 1997)
(unpublished); actively negotiating an exchange of firearms for drugs, United States v. Jones, 102
F.3d 804, 809 (6th Cir. 1996).

The Sixth Circuit has held that use was not established in the following circumstances: 



inert presence of firearm without display, Darnell, 1999 WL at 3, 1999 U.S. App. LEXIS at 7-8;
passively receiving a firearm from an undercover officer in exchange for drugs, Layne, 192 F.3d
at 570 and United States v. Warwick, 167 F.3d 965, 975 (6th Cir. 1999); clandestinely placing an
undetonated bomb nearby with intent to put firearm to a future active use, United States v. Stotts,
176 F.3d 880, 888-89 (6th Cir. 1999); carrying firearm in back pocket when it is not visible until
exiting the car, Napier v. United States, 159 F.3d 956, 960 (6th Cir. 1998); transferring a firearm
to co-conspirator days in advance of the time when the object of the conspiracy was to occur,
United States v. Taylor, 176 F.3d 331, 339 (6th Cir. 1999); reaching for firearm in briefcase,
United States v. Allen, 106 F.3d 695, 702 (6th Cir. 1997); storing firearm under the seat of a car,
United States v. Myers, 102 F.3d 227, 237 (6th Cir. 1996); storing six firearms throughout
residence where drug trafficking occurred, United States v. Deveaux, 1996 WL 683765, 3-4,
1996 U.S. App. Lexis 330877, 10-11 (6th Cir. 1996) (unpublished).

The language in paragraph (2)(A) “for the purpose of helping to commit the crime
charged in Count ___”  is a plain English version of the standard “calculated to bring about a
change in the circumstances of the predicate offense” articulated in Bailey and quoted supra.

The definition of “carry” in paragraph (2)(B) is based on Muscarello v. United States, 524
U.S. 125 (1998) and Combs, 369 F.3d at 932 (quoting Muscarello’s definition of carry).  In
Muscarello, the Court held that under § 924(c), the word carry is not limited to the carrying of
firearms directly on the person but also “applies to a person who knowingly possesses and
conveys firearms in a vehicle, including in the locked glove compartment or trunk of a car, which
the person accompanies.”  524 U.S. at 126-27.  To come within the definition of carry, the
firearm need not be immediately accessible to the defendant; as long as he meets the requirement
of carrying the firearm both “during and in relation to” the predicate offense, the elements of §
924(c) are satisfied.  Id. at 137.  However, carrying requires more than mere transportation.  The
Court explained: “‘Carry’ implies personal agency and some degree of possession, whereas
‘transport’ does not have such a limited connotation....  Therefore, ‘transport’ is a broader
category that includes ‘carry’ but also encompasses other activity.”  Id. at 134-35.

The Sixth Circuit or panels of the circuit have found carrying to be established in the
following cases:  Rose v. United States, 1999 WL 1000852, 2, 1999 U.S. App. LEXIS 28517, 6
(6th Cir. 1999)(unpublished)(firearm in front seat console of defendant’s car); United States v.
Gibbs, 182 F.3d 408 (6th Cir. 1999)(firearm tucked in defendant’s pants); United States v.
Clemons, 2001 WL 278596 at 4, 2001 U.S. App. LEXIS 4403 at 12 (6th Cir. 2001)
(unpublished) (defendant had firearm on his person and threw firearm into car); United States v.
Davis, 1999 WL 238664 at 2, 1999 U.S. App. LEXIS 7287 at 7 (6th Cir.
1999)(unpublished)(defendant aided and abetted another who physically transported firearm and
had it immediately available for use); United States v. Mann, 2001 WL 302049 at 2, 2001 U.S.
App. LEXIS at 6-7 (6th Cir. 2001) (unpublished) (defendant aided and abetted as getaway driver
although he did not carry firearm personally); Clark v. United States, 2000 WL 282447 at 4,
2000 U.S. App. LEXIS 3642 at 13 (6th Cir. 2000)(unpublished)(defendant conspired with co-
defendant who carried firearm personally); Carthorn v. United States, 1999 WL 644347 at 2,
1999 U.S. App. LEXIS 20366 at 6 (6th Cir. 1999)(unpublished)(firearm found under driver’s
seat of defendant’s car); Hilliard v. United States, 157 F.3d 444 (6th Cir. 1998)(defendant fleeing
scene of drug crime had firearm in his waistband).



The Sixth Circuit has found that carrying was not established in United States v.
Sheppard, 149 F.3d 458 (6th Cir. 1998)(mere presence of firearm at scene of drug crime is not
sufficient; “carry” requires more than the fact that the defendant at some time previously had
carried the firearm to a particular location).  

The second sentence of paragraph (2)(B) on the definition of carrying is bracketed
because it is only relevant when a vehicle is involved.

“Firearm” is defined in paragraph (2)(C) based on the statute, which provides:  “(A) any
weapon (including a starter gun) which will or is designed to or may readily be converted to
expel a projectile by the action of an explosive; (B) the frame or receiver of any such  weapon;
(C) any firearm muffler or firearm silencer, or (D) any destructive device.  Such term does not
include an antique firearm.”  18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(3).  Subsection 921(a)(4) further defines
destructive device, and subsection 921(a)(16) defines antique firearm.  As to the antique firearms
exception, see United States v. Smith, 981 F.2d 887, 891-92 (6th Cir. 1992)(“antique firearms”
exception is an affirmative defense which must be raised by defendant before the burden shifts to
the government to disprove its applicability).  The last bracketed sentence in paragraph (2)(C)
stating that the firearm need not be loaded is based on United States v. Pannell, 1999 WL 685936
at 6 n.3, 1999 U.S. App. LEXIS 20629 at 17 n.3 (6th Cir. 1999)(unpublished) and United States
v. Malcuit, 1999 WL 238672 at 2, 1999 U.S. App. LEXIS 7387 at 5 (6th Cir.
1999)(unpublished), both citing United States v. Turner, 157 F.3d 552, 557 (8th Cir. 1998).  See
also United States v. Bandy, 239 F.3d 802, 805 (6th Cir. 2001)(quoting with approval other
circuits’ conclusions that firearm need not be loaded).  In addition, the firearm need not be
operable.  Id.

The definition of “during and in relation to” in paragraph (2)(D) is based on Smith v.
United States, 508 U.S. 223 (1993). In Smith, the Supreme Court defined “in relation to” in
these terms:  “The phrase ‘in relation to’ thus, at a minimum, clarifies that the firearm must have
some purpose or effect with respect to the drug trafficking crime; its presence or involvement
cannot be the result of accident or coincidence. ... [T]he gun at least must ‘facilitate, or have the
potential of facilitating,’ the drug trafficking offense.”  Id. at 238 (citations omitted). 

Furthermore, in Smith, the Court stated that the in-relation-to language “does illuminate §
924(c)(1)’s boundaries.”  508 U.S. at 237.  The Court explained that the in-relation-to language
“‘allay[s] explicitly the concern that a person could be’ punished under § 924(c)(1) ... even
though the firearm’s presence is coincidental or entirely ‘unrelated’ to the crime.”  Id. at 238,
quoting United States v. Stewart, 779 F.2d 538, 539 (9th Cir. 1985).

Several years later, the Sixth Circuit interpreted the same phrase and cited Smith but used
slightly different language.  The Sixth Circuit stated: “[I]n order to show that a firearm has been
used or carried ‘in relation to’ a [predicate] offense, the Government must prove that the firearm
furthered the purpose or effect of the crime and that its presence or involvement was not the
result of coincidence.”  United States v. Riascos-Suarez, 73 F.3d 616, 623 (6th Cir. 1996), citing
Smith, 508 U.S. at 237-38.  The court then discussed the meaning of the phrase “furthered the
purpose,” concluding that the firearm in question did further the purpose of the drug trafficking
conspiracy in that case because the firearm was found in a car that was the site of the drug
trafficking deals.



In recent cases, the Sixth Circuit has used both the Smith language and the Riascos-
Saurez language to define “during and in relation to.”  Compare Combs, 369 F.3d at 933 and
United States v. Gibbs, 182 F.3d 408, 426 (6th Cir. 1999) and United States v. McRae, 156 F.3d
708, 712 (6th Cir. 1998)(using Riascos-Saurez language and citing Smith) with United States v.
Layne, supra at 571 and United States v. Warwick, supra at 971 (both quoting Smith language). 

The Committee used the words from the Supreme Court in Smith to define the phrase
during and in relation in paragraph (2)(D).  The Committee made this decision because there is
no reason to conclude the Sixth Circuit meant the different words to alter the standard, and
because some of the most recent Sixth Circuit cases quote the Smith language and do not cite
Riascos-Saurez.  See, e.g., United States v. Warwick, 167 F.3d 965, 971 (6th Cir. 1999).

The Sixth Circuit has found the during-and-in-relation-to element satisfied in United
States v. Malcuit, supra (in relation to element met even though firearm not within defendant’s
immediate reach); United States v. Fair, supra at 430-31 (in relation to element met because
inference clear that defendant carried gun to drug sale to ensure transfer completed without
incident); United States v. McRae, 156 F.3d 708, 712 (6th Cir. 1998)(during and in relation
element met where defendant had rifle and drugs together and close enough to grab when police
entered).

The Sixth Circuit has found the element not met in United States v. Layne, 192 F.3d 556,
571 (6th Cir. 1999)(during and in relation to element not met when defendant carried firearm
away from drug transaction because conduct occurred after the completion of the drug trafficking
offense, not during it); United States v. Gibbs, 182 F.3d 408 (6th Cir. 1999)(attracting person
with the allure of a drug sale and then robbing the person not enough to qualify as use of a
firearm in relation to a drug sale).

In paragraph (2)(E), the definition of “knowingly” is based on United States v. Odom, 13
F.3d 949, 961 (6th Cir. 1994).  Section 924(c) does not include any mens rea term in the
language of the statute (cf. § 922(g), for which the mens rea of knowingly is supplied by §
924(a)), but courts have imposed a mens rea of knowingly.  See Muscarello v. United States, 524
U.S. 125 (1998).  In Odom, the Sixth Circuit defined the term knowingly in the context of a
firearms offense under § 922(g)(1), and the Committee relied on that definition of knowingly for
the § 924(c) firearms offense.

Conviction on the predicate offense is not required.  United States v. Smith, supra at 458
(“We also hold that § 924(c) does not require a conviction for the predicate offense.”); United
States v. Ospina, 18 F.3d 1332, 1335-36 (6th Cir. 1994)(mandatory sentence of § 924(c)(1) can
be imposed in absence of conviction on underlying drug offense), citing, inter alia, United States
v. Hill, 971 F.2d 1461, 1467 (10th Cir. 1992)(“[A] conviction on an underlying drug trafficking
offense is not a prerequisite to a substantive 924(c) conviction”).  As Smith indicates, the §
924(c) conviction can stand even if the jury acquits the defendant on the predicate crime of
violence or drug trafficking.  United States v. Smith, supra.  However, the § 924(c) conviction
cannot stand if the conviction on the predicate crime is declared void for lack of jurisdiction. 
United States v. Wang, 222 F.3d 234, 240-41 (6th Cir. 2000)(§ 924(c) conviction must be
reversed because underlying Hobbs Act robbery charge had no effect on interstate commerce and
therefor did not qualify as a crime that could be prosecuted in federal court).  



One caution area for district judges in § 924(c) cases is that the type of firearm must be
proved to the trier of fact beyond a reasonable doubt.  Castillo v. United States, 530 U.S. 120
(2000).  The type of firearm involved, i.e, a “short-barreled rifle, short-barreled shotgun or
semiautomatic assault weapon” under subsection 924(c)(1)(B)(i); or “a machinegun or a
destructive device, or ... [a firearm] equipped with a firearm silencer or firearm muffler” under
subsection 924(c)(1)(B)(ii), is an element of the offense and must be proved beyond a reasonable
doubt to the trier of fact.  Castillo v. United States, supra; United States v. Davis, 306 F.3d 398
(6th Cir. 2002); United States v. Bandy, 239 F.3d 802 (6th Cir. 2001).  Castillo, which
interpreted the statute, was followed in the Sixth Circuit by United States v. Harris, 397 F.3d 404
(6th Cir. 2005), which reached the same conclusion based on Sixth Amendment grounds in the
wake of Booker.  Cf. United States v. Harris, 536 U.S. 545 (2002) (the conduct of brandishing is
not an element of a separate statutory offense and need not be proved beyond a reasonable
doubt).  The type of firearm can be indicated in the verdict either by using special verdict forms
or by incorporating the type of firearm into the jury instructions.



12.03 FIREARMS – Possessing a Firearm in Furtherance of a Crime of Violence or Drug
Trafficking Crime (18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1)(A)(i))

(1) Count  ___ of the indictment charges the defendant with violating federal law by
possessing a firearm in furtherance of a crime of violence or a drug trafficking crime.

For you to find the defendant guilty of this crime, you must find that the government has
proved each and every one of the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

(A) First: That the defendant committed the crime charged in Count ____.
______________ is a [crime of violence] [drug trafficking crime] which may be prosecuted in a
court of the United States.

(B) Second: That the defendant knowingly possessed a firearm.

(C) Third: That the possession of the firearm was in furtherance of the crime charged in
Count ____.

(2) Now I will give you more detailed instructions on some of these terms.

(A)  The term “firearm” means any weapon which will or is designed to or may readily be
converted to expel a projectile by the action of an explosive. [The term "firearm" also includes
the frame or receiver of any such weapon, and any firearm muffler or firearm silencer, and any
destructive device.]  [The term firearm does not include an antique firearm.] [The term firearm
includes starter guns.] [The firearm need not be loaded.]

(B) The term “knowingly” means voluntarily and intentionally, and not because of
mistake or accident.

(C) The term “possession” means [insert applicable definition from Instructions 2.10,
2.10A and 2.11]. 

(D) The term “in furtherance of” means that the firearm was possessed to advance or
promote the crime charged in Count ____ and that the firearm was strategically located so that it
was quickly and easily available for use.

(3) If you are convinced that the government has proved all of these elements, say so by
returning a guilty verdict on this charge.  If you have a reasonable doubt about any of these
elements, then you must find the defendant not guilty of this charge.

Use Note

Brackets indicate options for the judge.

In paragraph (2)(A), the four bracketed sentences should be used only if relevant.



Committee Commentary Instruction 12.03
(current through December 31, 2007)

Title 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1)(A)(i) provides that “any person who, during and in relation to
any crime of violence or drug trafficking crime ... for which the person may be prosecuted in a
court of the United States, uses or carries a firearm, or who, in furtherance of any such crime,
possesses a firearm, shall [be sentenced to the mandatory terms provided in the statute].”

This instruction is designed to cover the possession-in-furtherance offense described last
in subsection (c)(1)(A)(i), i.e., the offense described by the language: “any person ... who, in
furtherance of any such crime, possesses a firearm, shall [be sentenced to the mandatory terms
provided in the statute].”  Congress added this language to the statute in 1998 to respond to the
Bailey holding that the term use did not include mere possession.  See Public Law 105-386,
November, 1998.  In Bailey, the Court stated that, “Had Congress intended possession alone to
trigger liability under § 924(c)(1), it easily could have so provided.”  Bailey v. United States, 516
U.S. 137, 143 (1995).  Congress added the possession-in-furtherance offense to insure that
possession triggered the mandatory sentences of § 924(c)(1)(A)(i). 

This instruction assumes that the defendant is charged in the same indictment with both
the predicate crime of violence or drug trafficking crime and the § 924(c) firearms crime, and
that the evidence of both is sufficient.  The Committee took this approach because the underlying
crime and the firearms crime are usually charged in the same indictment.  But the law does not
require the two offenses to be charged together; indeed, the predicate crime may not ever be
charged.  See  United States v. Smith, 182 F.3d 452, 457 (6th Cir. 1999)(§ 924(c) “does not even
require that the [predicate] crime be charged; a fortiori, it does not require that [the defendant] be
convicted.”).  So if the § 924(c) firearms count is charged separately, the instruction should be
modified.

The definition of “firearm” in paragraph (2)(A) is based on the definition provided in the
statute with no significant changes.  See 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(3). The last bracketed sentence 
stating that the firearm need not be loaded is based on United States v. Pannell, 1999 WL 685936
at 6 n.3, 1999 U.S. App. LEXIS 20629 at 17 n.3 (6th Cir. 1999)(unpublished) and United States
v. Malcuit, 1999 WL 238672 at 2, 1999 U.S. App. LEXIS 7387 at 5 (6th Cir.
1999)(unpublished), both citing United States v. Turner, 157 F.3d 552, 557 (8th Cir. 1998).  See
also United States v. Bandy, 239 F.3d 802, 805 (6th Cir. 2001)(quoting with approval other
circuits’ conclusions that firearm need not be loaded).  In addition, the firearm need not be
operable.  Id.

In paragraph (2)(B), the definition of “knowingly” is based on United States v. Odom, 13
F.3d 949, 961 (6th Cir. 1994).

Paragraph (2)(C) of the instruction defines the term “possession” by reference to
Instructions 2.10, 2.10A and 2.11.  In United States v. Paige, 470 F.3d 603 (6th Cir. 2006), the
court stated that possession  in the context of § 924(c) "may be either actual or constructive and it
need not be exclusive but may be joint."  Id. at 610 (interior quotation and citation omitted).  This
definition is consistent with Instructions 2.10, 2.10A and 2.11.



To define “in furtherance of” in paragraph (2)(D), the Committee relied on United States
v. Mackey, 265 F.3d 457 (6th Cir. 2001).  The requirement that the firearm “advance or
promote” the underlying crime is drawn from Mackey, 265 F.3d at 461, quoting H.R. Rep. No.
105-344 (1977).  The requirement that the firearm be “strategically located so that it is quickly
and easily available for use” is also based on Mackey, 265 F.3d at 462, citing United States v.
Feliz-Cordero, 859 F.2d 250, 254 (2d Cir. 1988), overruled on other grounds by Bailey, 516 U.S.
137.  In addition to identifying these two requirements, the Mackey court further stated:

Other factors that may be relevant to a determination of whether the weapon was
possessed in furtherance of the crime include whether the gun was loaded, the type of
weapon, the legality of its possession, the type of drug activity conducted, and the time
and circumstances under which the firearm was found.

Mackey, 265 F.3d at 462, citing United States v. Ceballos-Torres, 218 F.3d 409, 414-15 (5th Cir.
2000).

In United States v. Frederick, 406 F.3d 754, 759 (6th Cir. 2005), the court approved an
instruction stating that the “in furtherance of” element was met if the defendant “acquired the gun
by trading drugs or drug proceeds for the gun.”  The Frederick court distinguished United States
v. Lawrence, 308 F.3d 623, 631 (6th Cir. 2002), which held that the “in furtherance of” element
was not met if the defendant acquired the gun as an unsolicited gift.  Frederick, 406 F.3d at 764.

Generally, the mere possession of a firearm on the same premises as a drug transaction
would not, without a showing of a connection between the two, sustain a § 924(c) conviction. 
Mackey, 265 F.3d at 462.  The court further explained, “[W]e conclude that ‘in furtherance of’
differs from ‘during and in relation to’ and requires the government to prove a defendant used the
firearm with greater participation in the commission of the crime or that the firearm’s presence in
the vicinity of the crime was something more than mere chance or coincidence.  Although the
differences between the standards are ‘subtle’ and ‘somewhat elusive,’ they exist nonetheless.” 
United States v. Combs, 369 F.3d 925, 933 (6th Cir. 2004)(footnotes omitted).

Conviction on the predicate offense is not required.  United States v. Smith, supra at 458
(“We also hold that § 924(c) does not require a conviction for the predicate offense.”); United
States v. Ospina, 18 F.3d 1332, 1335-1336 (6th Cir.1994)(mandatory sentence of § 924(c)(1) can
be imposed in absence of conviction on underlying drug offense), citing, inter alia, United States
v. Hill, 971 F.2d 1461, 1467 (10th Cir. 1992)(“[A] conviction on an underlying drug trafficking
offense is not a prerequisite to a substantive 924(c) conviction.”).  As Smith, supra indicates, the
§ 924(c) conviction can stand even if the jury acquits the defendant on the predicate crime of
violence or drug trafficking.  However, the § 924(c) conviction cannot stand if the conviction on
the predicate crime is declared void for lack of jurisdiction.  United States v. Wang, 222 F.3d
234, 240-41 (6th Cir. 2000)(§ 924(c) conviction must be reversed because underlying Hobbs Act
robbery charge had no effect on interstate commerce and therefor did not qualify as a crime that
could be prosecuted in federal court).  

One caution area for district judges in § 924(c) cases is that the type of firearm must be
proved to the trier of fact beyond a reasonable doubt. Castillo v. United States, 530 U.S. 120
(2000).  This issue is discussed in detail in the Committee Commentary to the previous



instruction, Instruction 12.02 Using or Carrying a Firearm During and in Relation to a Crime of
Violence or Drug Trafficking Crime.



Chapter 13.00

FALSE STATEMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT

Table of Instructions

Introduction

Instruction
13.01 Concealing a Material Fact in a Matter within the Jurisdiction of the United States
Government (18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(1))
13.02 Making a False Statement in a Matter within the Jurisdiction of the United States
Government  (18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(2))
13.03 Making or Using a False Writing in a Matter within the Jurisdiction of the United
States Government (18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(3))



Introduction to False Statements Instructions
(current through January 22, 2008)

Title 18 U.S.C. § 1001 provides:

§  1001.  Statements or entries generally 

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this section, whoever, in any matter within the
jurisdiction of the executive, legislative, or judicial branch of the Government of the United
States, knowingly and willfully--

   (1) falsifies, conceals, or covers up by any trick, scheme, or device a material fact;
  (2) makes any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or representation;

or
   (3) makes or uses any false writing or document knowing the same to contain any

materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or entry;
shall be fined under this title, imprisoned not more than 5 years or, if the offense involves
international or domestic terrorism (as defined in section 2331), imprisoned not more than
8 years, or both.

 
(b) Subsection (a) does not apply to a party to a judicial proceeding, or that party's counsel,
for statements, representations, writings or documents submitted by such party or counsel to
a judge or magistrate in that proceeding.

 
(c) With respect to any matter within the jurisdiction of the legislative branch, subsection (a)
shall apply only to--

   (1) administrative matters, including a claim for payment, a matter related to the
procurement of property or services, personnel or employment practices, or support
services, or a document required by law, rule, or regulation to be submitted to the
Congress or any office or officer within the legislative branch; or

   (2) any investigation or review, conducted pursuant to the authority of any
committee, subcommittee, commission or office of the Congress, consistent with
applicable rules of the House or Senate.

The pattern instructions cover the three subsections of 18 U.S.C. § 1001(a) with three
elements instructions:

13.01 Concealing a Material Fact in a Matter within the Jurisdiction of the United States
Government (18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(1))
13.02 Making a False Statement in a Matter within the Jurisdiction of the United States
Government  (18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(2))
13.03 Making or Using a False Writing in a Matter within the Jurisdiction of the United
States Government (18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(3))

The Committee defined the crime in three instructions because it is the most effective way
to describe the three subsections, (a)(1), (a)(2), and (a)(3).  The Sixth Circuit has made clear that



these subsections are stated in the disjunctive and constitute alternative means of committing a single
crime.  United States v. Hixon, 987 F.2d 1261, 1265 (6th Cir. 1993) (construing pre-1996 version
of statute, but disjunctive language was carried forward in 1996 revision); United States v. Zalman,
870 F.2d 1047, 1054 (6th Cir. 1989) (same).



13.01  CONCEALING A MATERIAL FACT IN A MATTER WITHIN THE JURISDICTION
OF THE UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT  (18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(1))

(1) The defendant is charged with the offense of [falsifying] [concealing] [covering up] a
material fact in a matter within the jurisdiction of the United States government.  For you to find the
defendant guilty of this offense, you must find that the government has proved each and every one
of the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

(A) First, that the defendant [falsified] [concealed] [covered up] a fact that he had a duty to
disclose; 

(B) Second, that the fact was material;
 

(C) Third, that the defendant [falsified] [concealed] [covered up] the fact by using a trick,
scheme, or device;

(D) Fourth, that the defendant acted knowingly and willfully; and 

(E) Fifth, that the fact pertained to a matter within the jurisdiction of the [executive]
[legislative] [judicial] branch of the United States government.

(2) Now I will give you more detailed instructions on some of these terms.

(A) A “material” fact or matter is one that has the natural tendency to influence or is capable
of influencing a decision of [insert name of government entity]. 

(B) The term “using a trick, scheme, or device” means acting in a way intended to deceive
others.

 (C)  An act is done “knowingly and willfully” if it is done voluntarily and intentionally, and
not because of mistake or some other innocent reason. 

(D)  A matter is “within the jurisdiction of the [executive] [legislative] [judicial] branch of
the United States government” if [insert name of government entity] has the power to exercise
authority in that matter. 

(3) [It is not necessary that the government prove [that the defendant knew the matter was
within the jurisdiction of the United States government] [that the statements were made directly to,
or even received by, the United States government]].

(4)  If you are convinced that the government has proved all of the elements, say so by
returning a guilty verdict on this charge.  If you have a reasonable doubt about any one of the
elements, then you must find the defendant not guilty of this charge.



Use Note

The court may need to modify the language if the charge is based on aiding and abetting or
causing under 18 U.S.C. § 2.

Brackets indicate options for the court.

The provisions of paragraph (3) should be used only if relevant.

Committee Commentary Instruction 13.01
(current through January 22, 2008)

This instruction covers violations of § 1001 listed in subsection (a)(1) which prohibits
falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact.  

Paragraph (1), which sets out the five elements for violating § 1001 by concealment, is based
on United States v. Rogers, 118 F.3d 466, 470 (6th Cir. 1997) (citing United States v. Steele, 933
F.2d 1313, 1318-19 (6th Cir. 1991) (en banc)).  For the legal duty element of concealment, the
Committee relied on United States v. Gibson, 409 F.3d 325, 332 (6th Cir. 2005) (citing United States
v. Zalman, 870 F.2d 1047, 1055 (6th Cir. 1989) and United States v. Curran, 20 F.3d 560, 566-67
(3d Cir. 1994)).  In paragraph (1)(E), the term “pertained to” is from Steele, supra at 1319, and the
phrase “a matter within the jurisdiction of the [executive] [legislative] [judicial] branch of” the
United States government is based on the language of § 1001(a).

The definition of “material” in paragraph (2)(A) is based on United States v. White, 270 F.3d
356, 365 (6th Cir. 2001) (citing United States v. Lutz, 154 F.3d 581, 588 (6th Cir. 1998)).   The use
of brackets for the name of the government entity is based on Tenth Circuit Pattern Instruction 2.46.

For the phrase “using a trick, scheme, or device” in paragraph (2)(B), neither the Supreme
Court nor the Sixth Circuit has stated a definition.  In the absence of specific authority, the definition
in paragraph (2)(B) is based on Tenth Circuit Instruction 2.46.

As to the definition of “knowingly and willfully” in paragraph (2)(C), no Supreme Court or
Sixth Circuit cases define either of these terms in the context of § 1001.  In the absence of specific
authority, the Committee relied on the definition of knowingly given in United States v. McGuire,
744 F.2d 1197, 1201 (6th Cir. 1984) (prosecution under 18 U.S.C. § 1005 for making a false entry
in a bank report).  Beyond the general definition of knowingly, case law on § 1001 does establish
particular elements to which the term “knowingly” applies.  The government must prove that the
defendant knew the statement was false.  United States v. Brown, 151 F.3d 476, 484 (6th Cir. 1998);
United States v. Arnous, 122 F.3d 321, 322-23 (6th Cir. 1997).  The government need not prove that
the defendant made the statement with knowledge of federal agency jurisdiction.  United States v.
Yermian, 468 U.S. 63 (1984).



For the term “willfully” in paragraph (2)(C), aside from the discussion of knowledge of
federal jurisdiction in Yermian, supra, neither the Supreme Court nor the Sixth Circuit has defined
the term in the context of § 1001.  In the absence of such authority, the Committee adopted the
approach taken in a plurality of the circuit courts of appeals.  Other circuits have concluded that
“willfully” in § 1001 does not require the defendant to have specific knowledge that his conduct is
criminal.  See United States v. Hsia, 176 F.3d 517, 522 (D.C. Cir. 1999); United States v. Daughtry,
48 F.3d 829, 831-32 (4th Cir.), vacated on other grounds, 516 U.S. 984 (1995); United States v.
Curran, 20 F.3d 560, 567-70 (3d Cir. 1994); United States v. Rodriguez-Rios, 14 F.3d 1040, 1048
n.21 (5th Cir. 1994).  But cf. United States v. Whab, 355 F.3d 155, 159, 162 (2d Cir. 2004) (no plain
error where the instruction provided:  “[I]t is not necessary for the Government to establish that the
defendant knew that he was breaking any particular law or particular rule.  He need only have been
aware of the generally unlawful nature of his actions.”).  

The definition of “within the jurisdiction of the [executive] [legislative] [judicial] branch of
the United States government” in paragraph (2)(D) is based on United States v. Rodgers, 466 U.S.
475 (1984).  The Court explained, “A department or agency has jurisdiction . . . when it has the
power to exercise authority in a particular situation.  . . .  [T]he phrase ‘within the jurisdiction’
merely differentiates the official, authorized functions of an agency or department from matters
peripheral to the business of that body.” Id. at 479 (citation omitted).  See also United States v.
Gibson, 881 F.2d 318, 322 (6th Cir. 1989) (quoting this definition from Rodgers).  The Sixth Circuit
has further explained that, “‘[W]hen the federal agency has power to exercise its authority, even if
the federal agency does not have complete control over the matter,’ the matter is within the agency’s
jurisdiction.”  United States v. Grenier, 513 F.3d 632, 638 (6th Cir. 2008) (quoting United States v.
Shafer, 199 F.3d 826, 829 (6th Cir. 1999)).  The term “[executive] [legislative] [judicial] branch”
was substituted for the term “department or agency” to reflect the statutory amendment in 1996. 

Paragraph (3) lists some but not all items the government is not required to prove.  Many
pattern instructions include such a provision.  These provisions should be used only if relevant.
The bracketed provision stating that the government need not prove the defendant knew the matter
was within the jurisdiction of the federal government is based on United States v. Yermian, 468 U.S.
63 (1984) and United States v. Gibson, 881 F.2d 318, 323 (6th Cir. 1989) (citing United States v.
Lewis, 587 F.2d 854 (6th Cir. 1978)).  The bracketed provision stating that the false statement need
not be made directly to, or even received by, the United States government is based on United States
v. Lutz, 154 F.3d 581, 587 (6th Cir. 1998) (quoting United States v. Gibson, 881 F.2d 318, 322 (6th
Cir. 1989)).

Intent and knowledge need not be proved directly.  Pattern Instruction 2.08 Inferring
Required Mental State states this principle and should be given in appropriate cases.  In addition,
Pattern Instruction 2.09 Deliberate Ignorance explains one approach to proving knowledge under §
1001.  See, e.g., United States v. Brown, 151 F.3d 476, 484 (6th Cir. 1998) (quoting United States
v. Arnous, 122 F.3d 321, 323 (6th Cir. 1997) (conviction affirmed based on evidence defendant
deliberately ignored a high probability that food stamp application contained a material false
statement)).



13.02  MAKING A FALSE STATEMENT IN A MATTER WITHIN THE JURISDICTION
OF THE UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT (18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(2))

(1) The defendant is charged with the offense of making a false [statement] [representation]
in a matter within the jurisdiction of the United States government.  For you to find the defendant
guilty of this offense, you must find that the government has proved each and every one of the
following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

(A) First, that the defendant made a [statement] [representation]; 

(B) Second, that the statement was [false] [fictitious] [fraudulent];

(C) Third, that the [statement] [representation] was material;

(D) Fourth, that the defendant acted knowingly and willfully; and 

(E) Fifth, that the statement pertained to a matter within the jurisdiction of the [executive]
[legislative] [judicial] branch of the United States government.

(2) Now I will give you more detailed instructions on some of these terms.

(A) A statement is “false” or “fictitious” if it was untrue when it was made, and the defendant
knew it was untrue at that time.  A statement is “fraudulent” if it was untrue when it was made, the
defendant knew it was untrue at that time, and the defendant intended to deceive.

(B)   A “material” statement or representation is one that has the natural tendency to influence
or is capable of influencing a decision of [insert name of government entity]. 

(C)  An act is done “knowingly and willfully” if it is done voluntarily and intentionally, and
not because of mistake or some other innocent reason. 

(D)  A matter is “within the jurisdiction of the [executive] [legislative] [judicial] branch of
the United States government” if [insert name of government entity] has the power to exercise
authority in that matter. 

(3) [It is not necessary that the government prove [that the defendant knew the matter was
within the jurisdiction of the United States government] [that the statements were made directly to,
or even received by, the United States government]].

(4)  If you are convinced that the government has proved all of the elements, say so by
returning a guilty verdict on this charge.  If you have a reasonable doubt about any one of the
elements, then you must find the defendant not guilty of this charge.

Use Note



The court may need to modify the language if the charge is based on aiding and abetting
or causing under 18 U.S.C. § 2.

Brackets indicate options for the court.

The provisions of paragraph (3) should be used only if relevant.

Committee Commentary Instruction 13.02
(current through January 22, 2008)

This instruction covers violations of § 1001 listed in subsection (a)(2) based on making a
false statement to the United States government.  

Paragraph (1), which characterizes the false statement violation of § 1001 as having five
elements, is based on United States v. Lutz, 154 F.3d 581, 587 (6th Cir. 1998) and United States
v. Rogers, 118 F.3d 466, 470 (6th Cir. 1997) (both citing United States v. Steele, 933 F.2d 1313,
1318-1319 (6th Cir. 1991) (en banc)).  The Sixth Circuit has occasionally used a different
formulation of the five elements.  See, e.g., United States v. Gatewood, 173 F.3d 983, 986 (6th
Cir. 1999) (citing United States v. Hixon, 987 F.2d 1261, 1266 (6th Cir. 1993)).  The Committee
chose the formulation based on Steele because it is closer to the statutory language and because
Steele was decided en banc.  In paragraph (1)(E), the phrase “the statement pertained to” is from
Steele, supra at 1319, and the phrase “a matter within the jurisdiction of the [executive]
[legislative] [judicial] branch of” the United States government is based on the language of §
1001(a).

In paragraph (2)(A), the definitions of false, fictitious and fraudulent are, in the absence
of Sixth Circuit authority, based on the Seventh Circuit Pattern Instructions for § 1001.   The
definition of “false or fictitious” is substantially verbatim from the Seventh Circuit definition. 
The definition of “fraudulent” is based on the Seventh Circuit instruction; the Sixth Circuit
implicitly approved the language in United States v. Brown, 151 F.3d 476, 484 (6th Cir. 1998)
(quoting United States v. Shah, 44 F.3d 285, 289 (5th Cir. 1995)). 

The definition of “material” in paragraph (2)(B) is based on United States v. White, 270
F.3d 356, 365 (6th Cir. 2001) (citing United States v. Lutz, 154 F.3d 581, 588 (6th Cir. 1998)).  
The use of brackets for the name of the government entity is drawn from Tenth Circuit Pattern
Instruction 2.46.

As to the definition of “knowingly and willfully” in paragraph (2)(C), no Supreme Court
or Sixth Circuit cases define either of these terms in the context of § 1001.  In the absence of
specific authority, the Committee relied on the definition of knowingly given in United States v.
McGuire, 744 F.2d 1197, 1201 (6th Cir. 1984) (prosecution under 18 U.S.C. § 1005 for making a
false entry in a bank report).  Beyond the general definition of knowingly, case law on § 1001
does establish particular elements to which the term “knowingly” applies.  The government must
prove that the defendant knew the statement was false.  United States v. Brown, 151 F.3d 476,
484 (6th Cir. 1998); United States v. Arnous, 122 F.3d 321, 322-23 (6th Cir. 1997).  The



government need not prove that the defendant made the statement with knowledge of federal
agency jurisdiction.  United States v. Yermian, 468 U.S. 63 (1984).

For the term “willfully” in paragraph (2)(C), aside from the discussion of knowledge of
federal jurisdiction in Yermian, supra, neither the Supreme Court nor the Sixth Circuit has
defined the term in the context of § 1001.  In the absence of such authority, the Committee
adopted the approach taken in a plurality of the circuit courts of appeals.  Other circuits have
concluded that “willfully” in § 1001 does not require the defendant to have specific knowledge
that his conduct is criminal.  See United States v. Hsia, 176 F.3d 517, 522 (D.C. Cir. 1999);
United States v. Daughtry, 48 F.3d 829, 831-32 (4th Cir.), vacated on other grounds, 516 U.S.
984 (1995); United States v. Curran, 20 F.3d 560, 567-70 (3d Cir. 1994); United States v.
Rodriguez-Rios, 14 F.3d 1040, 1048 n.21 (5th Cir. 1994).  But cf. United States v. Whab, 355
F.3d 155, 159, 162 (2d Cir. 2004) (no plain error where the instruction provided:  “[I]t is not
necessary for the Government to establish that the defendant knew that he was breaking any
particular law or particular rule.  He need only have been aware of the generally unlawful nature
of his actions.”).  

The definition of “within the jurisdiction of the [executive] [legislative] [judicial] branch
of the United States government” in paragraph (2)(D) is based on United States v. Rodgers, 466
U.S. 475 (1984).  The Court explained, “A department or agency has jurisdiction . . . when it has
the power to exercise authority in a particular situation.  . . .  [T]he phrase ‘within the
jurisdiction’ merely differentiates the official, authorized functions of an agency or department
from matters peripheral to the business of that body.” Id. at 479 (citation omitted).  See also
United States v. Gibson, 881 F.2d 318, 322 (6th Cir. 1989) (quoting this definition from
Rodgers).  The Sixth Circuit has further explained that, “‘[W]hen the federal agency has power to
exercise its authority, even if the federal agency does not have complete control over the matter,’
the matter is within the agency’s jurisdiction.”  United States v. Grenier, 513 F.3d 632, 638 (6th
Cir. 2008) (quoting United States v. Shafer, 199 F.3d 826, 829 (6th Cir. 1999)).  The term
“[executive] [legislative] [judicial] branch” was substituted for the term “department or agency”
to reflect the statutory amendment in 1996. 

Paragraph (3) lists some but not all items the government is not required to prove.  Many
pattern instructions include such a provision.  These provisions should be used only if relevant.
The bracketed provision stating that the government need not prove the defendant knew the
matter was within the jurisdiction of the federal government is based on United States v.
Yermian, 468 U.S. 63 (1984) and United States v. Gibson, 881 F.2d 318, 323 (6th Cir. 1989)
(citing United States v. Lewis, 587 F.2d 854 (6th Cir. 1978)).  The bracketed provision stating
that the false statement need not be made directly to, or even received by, the United States
government is based on United States v. Lutz, 154 F.3d 581, 587 (6th Cir. 1998) (quoting United
States v. Gibson, 881 F.2d 318, 322 (6th Cir. 1989)).

Sixth Circuit cases on falsity indicate that a conviction cannot be based on an ambiguous
question where the response is not false on its face and may be literally and factually correct. 
United States v. Gatewood, 173 F.3d 983, 986 (6th Cir. 1999); United States v. Hixon, 987 F.2d
1261, 1267 (6th Cir. 1993) (quoting United States v. Gahagan, 881 F.2d 1380, 1383 (6th Cir.



1989) and citing United States v. Vesaas, 586 F.2d 101, 103 (8th Cir. 1978)).  In addition, the
false statement need not be express; an implied false statement can support a conviction.  In
United States v. Brown, supra at 484-85, the court affirmed a conviction on the basis that the use
of a document makes the factual assertions necessarily implied from the statute, regulations and
announced policies that created the document.  The court explained, “While no case law is
directly on point, we conclude that the body of law, in the aggregate, makes plain that implied
falsity is a basis for a conviction.”  Id. at 485.

Oral and written statements are treated the same under § 1001.  United States v. Steele,
933 F.2d 1313, 1319 n.4 (6th Cir. 1991) (en banc) (citing United States v. Bramblett, 384 U.S.
503 (1955)).

Intent and knowledge need not be proved directly.  Pattern Instruction 2.08 Inferring
Required Mental State states this principle and should be given in appropriate cases.  In addition,
Pattern Instruction 2.09 Deliberate Ignorance explains one approach to proving knowledge under
§ 1001.  See, e.g., United States v. Brown, 151 F.3d 476, 484 (6th Cir. 1998) (quoting United
States v. Arnous, 122 F.3d 321, 323 (6th Cir. 1997) (conviction affirmed based on evidence
defendant deliberately ignored a high probability that food stamp application contained a material
false statement)).



13.03  MAKING OR USING A FALSE WRITING IN A MATTER WITHIN THE
JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT (18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(3))

(1) The defendant is charged with the offense of making or using a false writing or
document in a matter within the jurisdiction of the United States government.  For you to find the
defendant guilty of this offense, you must find that the government has proved each and every
one of the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

(A) First, that the defendant [made] [used] a false [writing] [document]; 

(B) Second, that the [writing] [document] contained a [statement] [entry] that was [false]
[fictitious] [fraudulent];

(C) Third, that the [statement] [entry] was material;

(D) Fourth, that the defendant acted knowingly and willfully; and 

(E) Fifth, that the [writing] [document] pertained to a matter within the jurisdiction of the
[executive] [legislative] [judicial] branch of the United States government.

(2) Now I will give you more detailed instructions on some of these terms.

(A)  A statement is “false” or “fictitious” if it was untrue when it was made, and the
defendant knew it was untrue at that time.  A statement is “fraudulent” if it was untrue when it
was made, the defendant knew it was untrue at that time, and the defendant intended to deceive.

(B)  A “material” statement or entry is one that has the natural tendency to influence or is
capable of influencing a decision of [insert name of government entity]. 

(C)  An act is done “knowingly and willfully” if it is done voluntarily and intentionally,
and not because of mistake or some other innocent reason. 

(D)  A matter is “within the jurisdiction of the [executive] [legislative] [judicial] branch
of the United States government” if [insert name of government entity] has the power to exercise
authority in that matter. 

(3) [It is not necessary that the government prove [that the defendant knew the matter was
within the jurisdiction of the United States government] [that the statements were made directly
to, or even received by, the United States government]].

(4)  If you are convinced that the government has proved all of the elements, say so by
returning a guilty verdict on this charge.  If you have a reasonable doubt about any one of the
elements, then you must find the defendant not guilty of this charge.

Use Note



The court may need to modify the language if the charge is based on aiding and abetting
or causing under 18 U.S.C. § 2.

Brackets indicate options for the court.

The provisions of paragraph (3) should be used only if relevant.

Committee Commentary Instruction 13.03
(current through January 22, 2008)

This instruction covers violations of § 1001 listed in subsection (a)(3) which prohibits
making or using a false writing or document within the jurisdiction of the United States
government.  

In Paragraph (1), the five elements of the false writing offense are based on United States
v. White, 492 F.3d 380, 396 (6th Cir. 2007) (quoting United States v. Raithatha, 385 F.3d 1013,
1022 (6th Cir. 2004), vacated on other grounds, 543 U.S. 1136 (2005)).  Some of the language
used in White was modified to reflect the language of the statute more completely.  In paragraph
(1)(E), the term “pertained to” is drawn from United States v. Steele, 933 F.2d 1313, 1319 (6th
Cir. 1991) (en banc), and the phrase “a matter within the jurisdiction of the [executive]
[legislative] [judicial] branch of” the United States government is based on the language of §
1001(a).

In paragraph (2)(A), the definitions of false, fictitious and fraudulent are, in the absence
of Sixth Circuit authority, based on the Seventh Circuit Pattern Instructions for § 1001.   The
definition of “false or fictitious” is substantially verbatim from the Seventh Circuit definition. 
The definition of “fraudulent” is based on the Seventh Circuit instruction; the Sixth Circuit
implicitly approved the language in United States v. Brown, 151 F.3d 476, 484 (6th Cir. 1998)
(quoting United States v. Shah, 44 F.3d 285, 289 (5th Cir. 1995)). 

The definition of “material” in paragraph (2)(B) is based on United States v. White, 270
F.3d 356, 365 (6th Cir. 2001) (citing United States v. Lutz, 154 F.3d 581, 588 (6th Cir. 1998)).  
The use of brackets for the name of the government entity was drawn from Tenth Circuit Pattern
Instruction Inst. 2.46.

As to the definition of “knowingly and willfully” in paragraph (2)(C), no Supreme Court
or Sixth Circuit cases define either of these terms in the context of § 1001.  In the absence of
specific authority, the Committee relied on the definition of knowingly given in United States v.
McGuire, 744 F.2d 1197, 1201 (6th Cir. 1984) (prosecution under 18 U.S.C. § 1005 for making a
false entry in a bank report).  Beyond the general definition of knowingly, case law on § 1001
does establish particular elements to which the term “knowingly” applies.  The government must
prove that the defendant knew the statement was false.  United States v. Brown, 151 F.3d 476,
484 (6th Cir. 1998); United States v. Arnous, 122 F.3d 321, 322-23 (6th Cir. 1997).  The



government need not prove that the defendant made the statement with knowledge of federal
agency jurisdiction.  United States v. Yermian, 468 U.S. 63 (1984).

For the term “willfully” in paragraph (2)(C), aside from the discussion of knowledge of
federal jurisdiction in Yermian, supra, neither the Supreme Court nor the Sixth Circuit has
defined the term in the context of § 1001.  In the absence of such authority, the Committee
adopted the approach taken in a plurality of the circuit courts of appeals.  Other circuits have
concluded that “willfully” in § 1001 does not require the defendant to have specific knowledge
that his conduct is criminal.  See United States v. Hsia, 176 F.3d 517, 522 (D.C. Cir. 1999);
United States v. Daughtry, 48 F.3d 829, 831-32 (4th Cir.), vacated on other grounds, 516 U.S.
984 (1995); United States v. Curran, 20 F.3d 560, 567-70 (3d Cir. 1994); United States v.
Rodriguez-Rios, 14 F.3d 1040, 1048 n.21 (5th Cir. 1994).  But cf. United States v. Whab, 355
F.3d 155, 159, 162 (2d Cir. 2004) (no plain error where the instruction provided:  “[I]t is not
necessary for the Government to establish that the defendant knew that he was breaking any
particular law or particular rule.  He need only have been aware of the generally unlawful nature
of his actions.”).  

The definition of “within the jurisdiction of the [executive] [legislative] [judicial] branch
of the United States government” in paragraph (2)(D) is based on United States v. Rodgers, 466
U.S. 475 (1984).  The Court explained, “A department or agency has jurisdiction . . . when it has
the power to exercise authority in a particular situation.  . . .  [T]he phrase ‘within the
jurisdiction’ merely differentiates the official, authorized functions of an agency or department
from matters peripheral to the business of that body.” Id. at 479 (citation omitted).  See also
United States v. Gibson, 881 F.2d 318, 322 (6th Cir. 1989) (quoting this definition from
Rodgers).  The Sixth Circuit has further explained that, “‘[W]hen the federal agency has power to
exercise its authority, even if the federal agency does not have complete control over the matter,’
the matter is within the agency’s jurisdiction.”  United States v. Grenier, 513 F.3d 632, 638 (6th
Cir. 2008) (quoting United States v. Shafer, 199 F.3d 826, 829 (6th Cir. 1999)).  The term
“[executive] [legislative] [judicial] branch” was substituted for the term “department or agency”
to reflect the statutory amendment in 1996. 

Paragraph (3) lists some but not all items the government is not required to prove.  Many
pattern instructions include such a provision.  These provisions should be used only if relevant.
The bracketed provision stating that the government need not prove the defendant knew the
matter was within the jurisdiction of the federal government is based on United States v.
Yermian, 468 U.S. 63 (1984) and United States v. Gibson, 881 F.2d 318, 323 (6th Cir. 1989)
citing United States v. Lewis, 587 F.2d 854 (6th Cir. 1978).  The bracketed provision stating that
the false statement need not be made directly to, or even received by, the United States
government is based on United States v. Lutz, 154 F.3d 581, 587 (6th Cir. 1998) quoting United
States v. Gibson, 881 F.2d 318, 322 (6th Cir. 1989).

Oral and written statements are treated the same under § 1001.  United States v. Steele,
933 F.2d 1313, 1319 n.4 (6th Cir. 1991) (en banc) citing United States v. Bramblett, 384 U.S.
503 (1955).



Sixth Circuit cases on falsity indicate that a conviction cannot be based on an ambiguous
question where the response is not false on its face and may be literally and factually correct. 
United States v. Gatewood, 173 F.3d 983, 986 (6th Cir. 1999); United States v. Hixon, 987 F.2d
1261, 1267 (6th Cir. 1993) (quoting United States v. Gahagan, 881 F.2d 1380, 1383 (6th Cir.
1989) and citing United States v. Vesaas, 586 F.2d 101, 103 (8th Cir. 1978)).  In addition, the
false statement need not be express; an implied false statement can support a conviction.  In
United States v. Brown, 151 F.3d 476, 484-85 (6th Cir. 1998), the court affirmed a conviction on
the basis that the use of a document makes the factual assertions necessarily implied from the
statute, regulations and announced policies that created the document.  The court explained,
“While no case law is directly on point, we conclude that the body of law, in the aggregate,
makes plain that implied falsity is a basis for a conviction.”  Id. at 485.

Intent and knowledge need not be proved directly.  Pattern Instruction 2.08 Inferring
Required Mental State states this principle and should be given in appropriate cases.  In addition,
Pattern Instruction 2.09 Deliberate Ignorance explains one approach to proving knowledge under
§ 1001.  See, e.g., United States v. Brown, supra at 484 (quoting United States v. Arnous, 122
F.3d 321, 323 (6th Cir. 1997) (conviction affirmed based on evidence defendant deliberately
ignored a high probability that food stamp application contained a material false statement)).



Appendix

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

 I.  Charts of 18 U.S.C. § 1956 Laundering of Monetary Instruments



§ 1956(a)(1)

conducts (or attempts to)

financial transaction

which in fact involves proceeds of specified unlawful activity

knowing the property involved represents the 
 proceeds of some form of unlawful activity

                with intent or     knowing that the transaction is
     designed in whole or in part

 to promote 
      the
carrying on
      of
specified
unlawful
activity 
(a)(1)(A)(i)

or     to violate 
       IRC
§§7201, 7206
 (a)(1)(A)(ii)

  to conceal or
   disguise the
nature, location,   
     source,             
   ownership
   or control of      
     proceeds
   of specified
unlawful activity
    (a)(1)(B)(i)

or   to avoid a
 transaction
  reporting
requirement
(a)(1)(B)(ii)



§ 1956(a)(2)

transports or transmits or transfers 
(or attempts to)

monetary instrument or funds

 from a place in the U.S. to or through a place
outside the U.S. or to a place in the U.S. from
        or through a place outside the U.S.

orwith intent to promote the carrying on    
        of specified unlawful activity
                         (a)(2)(A)

knowing that the monetary instrument
or funds involved  represent proceeds
of some form of  unlawful activity

and

    knowing that such transportation,
transmission or transfer is designed in 
               whole or part 

   to conceal or disguise the nature,
 location, source, ownership or control  
         of proceeds of specified
              unlawful activity
                   (A)(2)(B)(i)

or  to avoid a transaction
reporting requirement 
        (a)(2)(B)(ii)



§ 1956(a)(3)

 conducts (or attempts to)

      financial transaction

   involving property represented to be the proceeds of specified unlawful activity     
              or property used to conduct or facilitate specified unlawful activity

                            with intent

to conceal or disguise the nature,  
   location, source, ownership, 
  or control of property believed 
        to be the proceeds of 
    specified unlawful activity
                (a)(3)(B)

  to promote the
  carrying on of
     specified
     unlawful       
      activity
     (a)(3)(A)

or   to avoid a
 transaction
  reporting
requirement
 (a)(3)(C)

or




